Work Commitment in Public Organizations

Camilla Denager Staniok

Work Commitment in Public Organizations

PhD Dissertation

Politica

© Forlaget Politica and the author 2016

ISBN: 978-87-7335-212-0

Cover: Svend Siune Print: Fællestrykkeriet, Aarhus University Layout: Annette Bruun Andersen

Submitted March 23, 2016 The public defense takes place July 1, 2016 Published July 2016

Forlaget Politica c/o Department of Political Science Aarhus University Bartholins Allé 7 DK-8000 Aarhus C Denmark

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	7
CHAPTER 1. INTRODUCTION	2
CHAPTER 2. THEORETICAL FRAMEWORK	8 8 2 4 7
CHAPTER 3. EMPIRICAL FINDINGS	6 7 8 9 9 0
CHAPTER 4. CONCLUSION AND PERSPECTIVES44.1. Synthesizing the Results44.1.1. Theoretical Contributions44.2. Strengths and Limitations44.2.1. Internal Validity and Measurement44.2.2. External Validity.44.3. Addressing the 'Dark Sides' of Work Commitment44.4. Perspectives on Research and Practice54.4.1. Where Next? Suggestions for Future Research54.4.2. So What? Practical Perspectives5	3 4 5 6 7 9 3 3
LITERATURE	7
APPENDIX	4
ENGLISH SUMMARY	8
DANSK RESUMÉ7	71

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1.1. Specification on the papers in the dissertation	14
Table 2.1. Dimensions of Meyer and Allen's commitment model	20
Table 2.2. Overview of included commitment dimensions in the dissertation	
papers	21
Table A1. Overview of central survey items used in paper A-B	65
Table A2. Overview of central survey items used in paper C-E	66

LIST OF TABLES

Figure 1.1. Overview of the contributions of the papers in the dissertation	15
Figure 2.1. Overview of Self-Determination Continuum and Commitment	
Relationships	
Figure 4.1. Overview of the contributions of the papers in the dissertation*	45

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

It is nerve wrecking! Will I forget something? Not in the dissertation as such, but in the acknowledgements section; the only part of the dissertation said to be read by other people than the assessment committee. After my four years as a PhD student, quite a few people deserve mention as so many have helped and/or accompanied me along the way.

To begin with I want to thank my advisors. First I have to thank Lotte Bøgh Andersen – *the* most affectively committed researcher I have ever encountered – for encouraging me to write the dissertation in the first place, constantly challenging me to do my best, and for believing in my work and ideas more than myself. Also, I have to thank Thomas Pallesen for continuously pushing me to be critical, realistic and ambitious – you have been a great help in developing my work and also in my pursuit of a career outside the university. I was lucky to have an 'unofficial advisor' as well; I want to thank Christian B. Jacobsen for being the best co-author one could imagine and for being a great inspiration and a good friend! I will indeed miss our endless work on 'Sharing the Fire'.

Particularly, I would also like to thank my office mates: Lasse L. and Jonas K. I couldn't have picked better guys to share an office with; you are humorous and caring, and then you both pretended so well to care about public administration issues. Thank you! Admittedly, Miriam, as an office mate, you got the worst of me, so thank you for bearing with me the last three months before handing in the dissertation.

I would like to thank my colleagues in the 'hallway' for good company, coffee breaks and cake gatherings. Also you 'early lunchers' – Jakob T., Johanne G., Merete S., Henrik S. and Lasse N. – thank you for chats about various aspects of academic life as well as for sharing good times with me and my family both in and out of the office.

The PhD group at the Department of Political Science is something special and my years as a PhD student would definitely not have been as much fun had it not been for the company of many of you previous and current members of the group. In addition to those mentioned above, I especially wish to thank Andreas A., Anne Mette K., David A., Cathrine E., Helene F., Kim S., Kristian J., Louise L., Marie K., Morten H., Mathilde C., Martin B. and Åsne K.

Doing a PhD in Public Administration at this department is indeed a privilege. I appreciate all the great comments and advice I have received along the way. To me, Public Administration represents a safe, inspiring and constructive academic research environment that gives PhD students the best conditions for learning and developing their research and teaching skills.

I also want to take the opportunity to express my gratitude to, firstly, Birgit Kanstrup, Malene Poulsen and Susanne Vang for supporting me in countless administrative tasks, and Annette Andersen for great language editing of several articles as well as this dissertation. I am also grateful to the Department of Political Science for making it financially possible to travel around the world for international conferences and workshops as well as for ensuring a great workplace.

I had the pleasure to stay six months at SCANCOR, Stanford University, and I want to thank all the 'Scancorians' and their families for making this both a workwise inspiring experience and a socially enjoyable stay. 'Wine socials' are indeed a concept I intend to bring with me into future worksettings.

Not to forget are the ones who are always there; stepping in, taking over, listening and caring. Thank you Lene, Hans Peter, Malene, Ann and Jacob. Frej and Dicte deserve special thanks. By no means for contributing to the dissertation, good advice or the like, but for making sure that I remembered all the other fantastic sides of life! Also, Tue deserves a special mention, being the only one who I am sure I could not have done this without. Just as in all other facets of my life, you have been my 'rock'. Two people dear to me are unfortunately not here to see this journey through. Tut and Verner, I am forever grateful for your love and support. I dedicate this dissertation to the memory of you.

Camilla Denager Staniok Aarhus, June 2016

CHAPTER 1. INTRODUCTION

Public employees' work decisions and behaviors are the effective expression of public policies (Lipsky, 1980; Riccucci, 2005), and the legitimacy of public organizations thus builds on public employees' commitment to acting in the interests of their organization and the members of the public their organization serves (Balfour & Wechsler, 1991; Perry & Wise, 1990; Romzek, 1990). On this background ensuring public employees' work commitment is arguably an inherently democratic concern of most welfare states as well as a paramount task for public managers. So far, however, our knowledge on how public managers can affect employees' work commitment and how employees' work commitment affects organizational performance is very sparse (Meyer et al., 2002; Solinger et al., 2008). This dissertation therefore sheds light on some critical questions that remain unanswered: How can public managers work strategically with employees' commitment? What promotes and impedes the development of employees' commitment in public organizations? And finally, how do managerial efforts and employees' commitment ultimately affect organizational performance?

The dissertation focuses on two types of work commitment, namely organizational commitment and goal commitment. Commitment is defined in terms of the relative strength of employees' identification with and involvement in either a particular organization or its goals (Mowday et al., 1982: 27). So far, studies on employees' work commitment have focused on determinants or correlates of commitment such as employees' individual characteristics (e.g. age, gender, tenure, education and ability), their perception of job characteristics (e.g. autonomy, scope variation and difficulty) and their attitudes toward various aspects of their work experience (e.g. satisfaction with their pay, job and colleagues) (for an overview see e.g. Mathieu & Zajac's (1990) meta-analysis). Moreover, previous studies on employees' work commitment have mostly been carried out within private organizations (with certain early exceptions, e.g. Balfour & Wechsler, 1996 and Angle & Perry, 1981). Only recently have public administration scholars shown interest in the issue (e.g. Stazyk et al., 2011 and Park & Rainey, 2007). As noted by Stazyk and colleagues (2011: 604) employees' work commitment is, however, particularly salient to public management since public managers are constrained by the limiting influence of pecuniary incentives in the public sector and thus often reliant on normative and solidary inducements to shape employee attitudes and behaviors (see also Balfour & Wechsler, 1996; Moynihan, 2010; Romzek, 1990). The first aim of this dissertation is therefore to assess the relationship between internal managerial efforts of accentuating organizational goals and values and public employees' work commitment.

The relationship between public management and organizational performance is often described as a 'black box' by public administration scholars and policy makers alike (O'Toole & Meier, 2011; Rainey, 2009; Boyne et al., 2006). In particular, how the relationships that managers develop with their employees shape performance is still considered uncharted territory (Favero et al., 2014). Reflecting this more general notion, we also know little about what public employees' work commitment means to organizational performance. Existing studies concerned with the performance implications of employees' work commitment are mainly delimited to assessments of retention and absenteeism, individual task performance or subjective self-reports of in-role and extra role behavior (Riketta, 2002; Park & Rainey, 2007). The implications of employees' work commitment for organizational effectiveness, and thereby the actual consequences for the recipients of the service they deliver have, so far been neglected. Therefore, the often-endorsed tenet that public employees' work commitment has a positive influence on organizational performance is left unsubstantiated. More recent studies suggest that the institutional context characteristics of public organizations might impose hard conditions for the effects of employees' work commitment on organizational performance (Stazyk et al., 2011; Wright, 2004; Steinhaus & Perry, 1996). For instance, both high external control and bureaucratic red tape are found to reduce public employees' work commitment (Stazyk et al., 2011). Hence, relying on an assumption of positive performance effects of public employees' work commitment for not only employee-related outputs, but also organizational outcomes, imposes a great risk of fallacy. On this background, the second and final aim of this dissertation is to assess the association between public employees' work commitment and organizational performance.

To increase our understanding of the relationship between public management, employees' work commitment and organizational performance, the dissertation addresses the following research questions: *What is the relationship between public management and employees' organizational commitment and goal commitment, respectively, and what are the implications for organizational performance?* The dissertation comprises the following five papers, which all contribute to answering these questions:

A. Staniok, Camilla Denager & Christian Bøtcher Jacobsen (2016). Sharing the Fire: The Relationship between Public Managers' and Employees' Organizational Commitment and the Role of Transformational Leadership Congruence. *Manuscript invited for 2nd revise and resubmit at International Public Management Journal.*

- B. Staniok, Camilla Denager (2016). Going Against the Tide? Assessing the Relationship between Organizational Commitment and Performance in Public Organizations. *Conference paper accepted for presentation at the Public Management Research Conference 2016.*
- C. Staniok, Camilla Denager (2015). Goal Prioritization and Commitment in Public Organizations: Exploring the Effects of Goal Conflict. *Forthcoming in International Journal of Public Administration*.
- D. Staniok, Camilla Denager (2016). Co-determination as a Road to Goal Commitment: Managing Danish High Schools. *Forthcoming in Politica 48(2)* (title translated from Danish).
- *E*. Staniok, Camilla Denager (2016). Performance Implications of Public Managers' Goal Prioritization: An Empirical Test of the Link between Internal Management and Organizational Performance. *Manuscript in review at International Journal of Public Administration*.

Paper A and B focus on employees' organizational commitment. Based on the argument that managers, due to their central position and authority within the organization, serve as critical role models to their employees (Rainey & Steinbauer, 1999; Christensen et al., 2009; Paarlberg & Lavigna, 2010), paper A investigates the relationship between public managers' organizational commitment and employees' organizational commitment. Moreover the paper examines the role of transformational leadership for this relationship, and based on the literature on self-other agreement, looks at both the degree of transformational leadership and the congruence in manager-intended and employee-perceived transformational leadership (Bass & Reggio, 2006; Yammarino & Atwater, 1997). Paper B examines the relationship between managers' and employees' organizational commitment and organizational performance. The paper theoretically elaborates on the existing theoretical arguments and empirical findings within the literature concerning the relationship between organizational commitment and performance outputs (e.g. Park & Rainey, 2007; Balfour & Wechsler, 1991; Mowday et al., 1982), and on this background empirically tests proposed theoretical expectations on how organizational commitment relates to both quality and quantity criteria for organizational performance outcomes (Andersen et al., 2016).

Paper C, D and E focus on employees' *goal commitment*. Building on the arguments from Goal Setting Theory about specification and formulation of goals as being crucial for goal achievement (Locke & Latham, 1990; Latham et al., 2008), paper C and D investigate the relationship between public managers' goal prioritization and employees' goal commitment. The papers

moreover look at how this relationship depends on the degree of goal conflict (paper C) and employees' perception of co-determination (paper D). Finally, paper E investigates the relationship between managerial goal prioritization, employees' goal commitment and organizational performance and elaborates on the on-going discussion of goal displacement in public organizations (Bohte & Meier, 2002).

The more specific literatures and theoretical expectations addressed in the papers are presented in more depth in Chapter 2, which furthermore specifies the cohesion of the individual papers and their contributions to the theoretical framework of the dissertation. The following section briefly presents the empirical context and methodology of the five papers. Next, the contributions of the individual papers are summarized in an overall model. Finally, an overview of the content of the dissertation ties up this introductory chapter.

1.1. Empirical Context and Methodology

The theoretical expectations on employees' work commitment in public organizations are investigated empirically in the area of higher secondary education in Denmark. The advantages of this empirical setting are more carefully described in the individual papers. On a general note, however, in order to ensure considerable variation in the independent variables as well as reasonable grounds for comparability across organizations, the selection of the empirical context has been based on three criteria in particular.

First, Danish high schools were chosen because they have considerable decision-making authority and substantial room for different managerial strategies at the school level as they are self-governing institutions with school boards responsible for the overall direction of the schools. Second, Danish high schools have a relatively simple management structure, where most principals handle personnel management and engage with teachers on a daily basis. Principals can thus be expected to exert considerable influence on the teachers. Finally, Danish high schools have comparable performance outcomes as they all produce more or less identical services. The area of higher secondary education in Denmark is, however, also a highly institutionalized field with strong professional norms and Chapter 4 thus returns to this issue in a discussion on the drawbacks pertaining to this choice of empirical context and its consequences for generalizability to other areas of the public sector as well as other political and geographical contexts. Table 1.1 below lists the papers in relation to their main contribution, dependent variable, study type and the samples used in the analyses.

All studies are based on quantitative analyses of two parallel surveys (2012) to all Danish principals and teachers in higher secondary education, including 1) STX high schools, the general educational program, 2) HHX high schools, the commercial/business program, and 3) HTX high schools, the technical examination program. The different high schools within the area have program differences, but they all share the objective of providing students with general education and knowledge qualifying them to access higher education. Paper D combines quantitative and qualitative data and methods in order to explore the concept of employee co-determination in the specific context of higher secondary education. Paper B and E, which focus on organizational performance, use measures based on archival data on high schools' completion rates, student grades and students' socio-demographic background (here aggregated on school level, data from 2011, 2012 2013). All archival data has been obtained from Statistics Denmark, which among other things collects and compiles data on all Danish high schools and high school students. The measures and methods applied in the different studies are discussed in the individual papers, and the more general advantages and shortcomings of the methodological choices made throughout the dissertation (e.g. research design and types of variables used in the studies) are discussed in the final chapter of the dissertation.

	Short title*	Main contribution	Dependent variable	Study type	Sample**
<	Organizational Commitment and Transformational Leadership	Investigates the association between managers' and employees' organizational commitment and the role of transformational leadership	Employees' organizational commitment	Quantitative	74 principals 1467 teachers
В	Organizational Commitment and Performance	Investigates the performance effects of managers' and employees' organizational commitment	Organizational performance (academic level and completion rate)	Quantitative	87 principals 2112 teachers
υ	Goal Prioritization, Commitment and Conflict	Conceptualizes a value-based approach to goal commitment and investigates the effects of goal conflict	Employees' goal commitment	Quantitative	73 principals 1464 teachers
Δ	Goal Prioritization, Commitment and Co- determination	Investigates the meaning and effects of employee co-determination both qualitatively and quantitatively	Employees' goal commitment	Qualitative Quantitative	5 principals 5 teachers 73 principals 1353 teachers
ш	Goal Prioritization, Commitment and Performance	Investigates the performance effects of managers' goal prioritization and employees' goal commitment	Organizational performance (completion rate)	Quantitative	87 principals 2112 teachers
	he letters A-E in the table will be t	* The letters A-E in the table will be used as a paper reference throughout the dissertation.	dissertation.		

Table 1.1. Specification on the papers in the dissertation

** Papers A, C and D are only based on respondents from STX high schools whereas study B and E is based on STX, HHX and HTX high schools. Although papers are based on the same dataset, the number of respondents differs in the analyses due to variations in missing responses on the different measures.

1.2. Contributions and Overview

The papers investigate either how public managers through their own organizational commitment and their goal prioritization can affect employees' work commitment, or how this relates to organizational performance. Figure 1.1 depicts the overall model of the dissertation and illustrates the contributions of the individual papers (referring to the alphabetizing in Table 1.1). As the figure shows, the papers of the dissertation focus on intra-organizational processes that expectedly connect public managers' organizational commitment and goal prioritization to employees' work commitment and organizational performance. The figure also illustrates how the papers of the dissertation further include variables that can be argued to influence exactly these relationships, that is, managers' transformational leadership and employees' perception of goal conflict and co-determination.



Figure 1.1. Overview of the contributions of the papers in the dissertation*

* Note: (m) denotes manager, (e) denotes employee and (m-e) denotes manager and employee.

The *theoretical contribution* of this dissertation is to provide a theoretical framework for understanding the role of employees' work commitment in public organizations. The framework assesses both how managers can affect employees' organizational commitment and goal commitment through their

own organizational commitment and goal prioritization, and how this can be expected to affect organizational performance. So far, the literature on work commitment has been criticized for being atheoretical, which has led to calls for 'theory-based' models of commitment (Mathieu & Zajac, 1990; Sollinger et al., 2008).

The *methodological contribution* of the dissertation is to provide varied analyses of the intra-organizational workings of work commitment and methodologically robust tests of the proposed relationships. So far, studies have primarily focused on employee commitment, neglecting the potential performance implications of managers' commitment and leadership. Moreover the performance implications of employees' work commitment have mainly been investigated empirically by the use of subjective measures (selfand manager-reported measures) (Meyer et al., 2002; Riketta, 2002). The multi-level set-up in the studies, which combines measurements of commitment and leadership on different levels of the organization along with the objective performance measures and insights from qualitative interviews, thus explicitly addresses some of the existing pit-falls in the literature.

Lastly, as mentioned at the outset of this introductory chapter, frontline public service employees can be seen as 'the real policy makers' (Lipsky, 1980; Riccucci, 2005), and ensuring that public policies are actually followed through by these employees is thus a critical task for public managers. In the aftermath of New Public Management, efforts to find alternatives to the market-like approaches of organizing and incentivizing public employees are warranted (e.g. Moynihan, 2010; Moynihan & Pandey, 2010; Pollitt, 2013). This dissertation contributes to this question and *public management practice* in general by suggesting how managing employees' work commitment by accentuating the organizational goals and values may be a fruitful means to this end in a public sector context.

1.2.1. Roadmap

Chapter 2 presents the theoretical framework for the dissertation. The chapter defines the key concepts of work commitment and organizational performance, presents the overall theoretical background for the papers, and summarizes the main theoretical expectations. Chapter 3 summarizes the empirical findings from the five papers. The first part of the chapter concerns organizational commitment and thus consists of a summary of the findings on the proposed relationships between managers' and employees' organizational commitment and organizational performance (paper A and B). The second part of the chapter concerns goal commitment and hence consists of a summary of the findings regarding the proposed relationships between managers' goal prioritization, employees' goal commitment and organizational performance (paper C, D and E). Chapter 4 first synthesizes the results of the studies in a joint conclusion. Hereafter the chapter discusses the overall strengths and limitations of the dissertation as well as critical perspectives on potential 'dark sides' of work commitment in public organizations. Finally, the chapter addresses perspectives for research and practice that can be derived on the basis of the dissertation's results.

CHAPTER 2. THEORETICAL FRAMEWORK

The purpose of this chapter is to provide conceptual clarification and present the main theories behind the dissertation's papers. The chapter is divided into two parts. Section 2.1 defines and discusses the concepts work commitment and organizational performance. Section 2.2 presents the theoretical background for the papers and summarizes the overall theoretical expectations concerning managers' commitment and goal prioritization, employees' work commitment and organizational performance. The contributions of the papers to the overall theoretical framework of the dissertation are discussed throughout the chapter, whereas a more detailed specification and discussion of the theoretical arguments are found in the individual papers. Chapter 3 will refer to the theoretical framework presented in this chapter when summarizing and discussing the empirical findings of the five papers.

2.1. Conceptual Clarification

What does work commitment mean? And how can we understand organizational performance in a public sector context? This chapter begins by defining work commitment and organizational performance, as conceptual clarification of these constructs is necessary to understand and evaluate the findings and the contributions of the dissertation.

2.1.1. Defining Work Commitment

Existing research on commitment in the workplace ranges from studies on workgroup commitment, professional commitment and personal career commitment to studies on union commitment, organizational commitment and goal commitment (Neubert & Wu, 2009). This dissertation, as mentioned in the introduction, focuses exclusively on the latter two. Organizational commitment and goal commitment are particularly interesting because they both rely on two strong strands of literature that represent different and potentially competing logics (Klein et al., 2012; Meyer et al. 2004). Organizational commitment has its roots in sociology and organizational psychology and exclusively pertains to commitment to a recognizable entity (Mowday et al., 1979). Goal commitment primarily draws on the literature on Goal Setting Theory (Locke & Latham, 1990; Latham et al., 2008) and focuses on commitment to intended outcomes of a course of action. Also, the two types of commitment are both concerned with the goals of the organization,

however, in different ways. Organizational commitment is more broadly concerned with employees' commitment to the values, mission and visions of the organization whereas goal commitment is delimited to employees' commitment to a particular performance goal. It is by now well recognized that individuals can develop multiple work-related commitments and that different types of commitment can co-exist in work settings (Meyer & Herscovitch, 2001; Cohen, 2003). Recently, efforts to unite the two streams of literature have also emerged. For instance, Meyer, Becker and Vandenberghe (2004) developed an integrative framework on motivational processes building in part on Locke and Latham's (1990) model of goal setting and in part on Meyer and Herscovitch's (2001) general model of workplace commitments (Meyer et al., 2004). The degree of complementarity and the potential trade-offs between organizational commitment and goal commitment are not explicitly addressed in this dissertation, however, their individual contributions are. The abovementioned literatures will be described in more depth when the overall theoretical expectations of the dissertation are introduced in section 2.2. But first, a theoretical clarification of what commitment means in this context.

The multidisciplinary interest in work commitment has spurred a myriad of conceptual approaches (for thorough reviews and meta-analyses see e.g. Mathieu & Zajac, 1990; Meyer et al., 2002, Klein et al., 2012 or Cohen, 2003). Meyer and Allen's (1997) multidimensional framework is, however, by far the most used and validated approach to commitment today (Sollinger et al., 2008; Klein et al., 2012). Meyer and Allen define commitment as "an internal force (mindset) that binds an individual to a target (social or non-social) and/or to a course of action of relevance to that target" (Meyer, 2009: 40). According to Meyer and Allen, the internal force can be thought of as a conscious mindset consisting of three dimensions: desire (affective commitment), obligation (normative commitment) and cost (continuative commitment) (Meyer & Allen, 1997). The dimensions can be said to describe different causes of commitment to the individual and combined to reflect an individual's 'commitment profile' (Meyer & Herscovitch, 2001: 308). In continuation hereof, affective commitment is more specifically defined as an emotional attachment to, identification with, and involvement in a commitment target. *Normative commitment* is the perceived obligation to a commitment target out of a sense of duty. And finally, continuance commitment is defined as the belief that one must commit to a target because of prior investments (e.g. hard work, learning, skills, time), which have made the cost of not committing too high (e.g., relocation, forfeiting unvested pension funds) (Meyer & Allen, 1997; Meyer & Herscovitch, 2001). Table 2.1 below provides an overview.

Commitment	Mindset	Description
Affective	Desire 'Want to'	"Develops when an individual becomes involved in, recognizes the value-relevance of and/or derives his or her identity from an association with an entity or pursuit of course of action".
Normative	Perceived obligation 'Ought to'	"Develops as a result of internalization of norms through socialization, the receipt of benefits that includes a need to reciprocate, and/or acceptance of the terms of a psychological contract".
Continuance	Perceived cost 'Have to'	"Develops when an individual recognizes he or she stands to lose investments, and/or perceives that there are no other alternatives than to pursue a course of action of relevance to a particular target".

Table 2.1. Dimensions of Meyer and Allen's commitment model

Source: Based on Meyer and Herscovitch's proposition 5a, 5b and 5c (2001: 316-317).

Meyer and Allen's framework (1997) builds upon earlier conceptualizations of commitment. The definition of affective commitment mirrors the seminal definition of organizational commitment first formulated by Mowday, Porter and Steers (1979). Mowday, Porter and Steers' definition has been referred to as attitudinal in order to separate it from other behavioral side bet views of commitment at that time (e.g. Becker, 1960; Salancik, 1977). The distinction between attitudinal commitment and commitment based on more extrinsic or economic benefits (e.g. continuance commitment) is expressed in various ways. Angle and Perry (1981) distinguish between commitment to values and commitment to stay with an organization. Similarly, Mathieu and Zajac (1990) in their meta-study of organizational commitment categorize studies as either attitudinal or calculative. As opposed to Meyer and Allen's threedimensional model, these distinctions represent unidimensional views of commitment. Where Meyer and Allen theorize that commitment consists of different dimensions, unidimensional approaches argue that the dimensions are in fact qualitatively different concepts reflecting different logics and relationships between the individual and the relevant target, e.g. an organization or a goal (Sollinger et al., 2008). This debate is continuously being extended (see e.g. Cohen, 2003; Riketta, 2002). Balfour and Wechsler (1996) distinguish between three forms of commitment: identification, affiliation, and exchange. Identification commitment concerns individuals' sense of pride in the organization and their feelings about the organizational mission, vision and achievements (Balfour & Wechsler, 1996: 261). Affiliation commitment refers to individuals who feel a sense of belonging to the organization and who care for the well-being of their colleagues (Balfour & Wechsler, 1996: 263). Finally exchange commitment captures individuals' beliefs in organizational acknowledgement and appreciation of their work and effort (Balfour & Wechsler, 1996: 264). Despite differences in conceptualizations, most studies acknowledge multiple reasons, rationales, motives, or mindsets for commitment either as factors that affect commitment or as expressions of commitment (Klein et al., 2009). As recently noted by Stazyk, Pandey and Wright (2011: 605), "the conceptual overlap in organizational commitment understanding may be conceptually clear to scholars but less straightforward for study participants".

This dissertation mainly focuses on affective and normative commitment in regard to both organizational commitment and goal commitment, as these dimensions of commitment theoretically can be expected to reflect autonomous types of motivation and, on that background, to entail the strongest relationships with behavioral outcomes and performance. According to the Self-Determination Theory formulated by Ryan and Deci, autonomous motivation involves acting with a sense of volition and having the experience of choice. In contrast, controlled motivation involves acting out of a sense of pressure – a sense of having to engage in the actions (Deci & Ryan, 1985; Gagné & Deci, 2005). A recent development in studies of Meyer and Allen's three-dimensional commitment model has exactly been integration with Self-Determination Theory. Studies of this kind demonstrate that whether the individual's commitment builds on autonomous or controlled motivation can be used as a common basis for understanding the nature and consequences of the different commitment dimensions (Meyer et al., 2004; Meyer & Maltin, 2010; Gagné et al., 2008). Section 2.2 will elaborate further on the theoretically proposed differences pertaining to the motivational bases of the commitment dimensions and describe in more detail how this motivational differentiation supports the theoretical framework of this dissertation. An overview of the commitment dimensions included in the individual papers is provided in table 2.2 and briefly summarized below.

	· I I I	•	· · · ·	• .1	1• i i•
Table 2.2. Overview of	included	commitment	dimensions	in the	dissertation papers
		••••••••			

	Included dimensions of commitment
Organizational commitment	Paper A: affective commitment
	Paper B: affective, normative and continuative commitment
Goal commitment	Paper C, D and E: affective and normative commitment

Paper A and B on organizational commitment take on different approaches. Paper A investigates the relationship between managers' and employees' *af*- *fective* organizational commitment, and paper B investigates the association between organizational commitment and organizational performance by including all three dimensions of commitment. The more narrow focus on affective commitment in paper A can be ascribed to the proposed relationship with managers' transformational leadership. The relationship between transformational leadership and organizational commitment is theorized to work through role model influences and processes of emotional identification with organizational goals and values corresponding to the particular inherent properties of affective commitment (Meyer & Herscovitch, 2001; Meyer et al., 2004). The relationship between organizational commitment and organizational performance is not delimited to these specific mechanisms, however, and a broader approach including *affective, normative and continuative commitment* is thus explored in paper B.

Paper C, D and E on goal commitment all build on the same approach to goal commitment (described in more detail in paper C). The approach is denoted 'value-oriented' goal commitment and focuses on *affective and normative commitment* as a shared expression of an individual's goal commitment. The approach partly resembles Angle and Perry's (1981) concept of value commitment and builds on the notion that affective commitment and normative commitment are closely related dimensions, compared to continuance commitment, as they are both based on autonomous, rather than controlled motivation and to a large extent rely on the values of the individual. Against the backdrop of these approaches comprised in the five papers, the dissertation as a whole gives a broad and varied picture of the role of organizational commitment and goal commitment in public organizations. Before elaborating further on the theoretical expectations, the next section looks at the ambiguous concept of organizational performance.

2.1.2. Defining Organizational Performance

Within public administration, organizational performance is a core concept that has received attention for decades (Brewer, 2006; O'Toole & Meier, 2011; Boyne et al., 2006). Due to the multidimensional nature of the concept, it is by no means straightforward to theoretically define or empirically study organizational performance (Selden & Sowa, 2004; Cameron, 1986; Rainey & Steinbauer, 1999; Andersen et al., 2016). At the outset of this dissertation, at least two questions are critical to assess: 1) by which performance criteria are an organization's achievements judged? 2) Who defines what good performance is for a given performance criterion? Structured by these two questions, this section clarifies the performance approach of the dissertation.

Performance criteria refer to the standards by which an organization's achievements are judged and can furthermore be divided into criteria relating to the results of the production or the process by which the results are achieved (Andersen et al., 2016). Process criteria typically refer to standards of equity, transparency or efficiency and are often associated with input, output or the ratio between the two in the production of public service delivery. Conversely, criteria of results most often refer to mission achievement or effectiveness and thereby mainly draw attention to the outcomes of public service delivery (Lynn & Robichau, 2013; Boyne, 2002). This dissertation focuses on the results of the production, that is, the outcomes of public service delivery, and thus defines organizational performance in terms organizational goal achievement (Selden & Sowa, 2004).¹ Moreover, the dissertation focuses on two different criteria of organizational performance outcomes, reflecting public demands to improve quantity and quality in public service delivery respectively (Meier, 1987). Paper B, which investigates the relationship between organizational commitment and organizational performance, addresses the criteria of both quantity and quality in public service delivery, whereas paper E, which investigates the relationship between managerial goal prioritization, employees' goal commitment and organizational performance, solely addresses the criterion of quantity.

The exclusive focus on organizational performance *outcomes* implies that the dissertation only provides a partial picture of organizational performance. Neither process criteria nor potential performance trade-offs between for instance output and outcome criteria are included in the analyses. In democratic welfare states, a focus on organizational performance outcomes of public service delivery can, however, be argued to be particularly salient as performance in this regard typically reflects organizations' effectiveness in terms of the achievement of politically defined objectives (Lynn & Robichau, 2013). This notion naturally leads to question 2, namely, *who* defines what good performance is for a given performance criterion.

As stated already early on by Heffron (1989: 323), in a public context "there is no agreement on what the intended result of organizations is or should be". A range of different stakeholders both within and outside public organizations hold legitimate views on what constitutes good performance, and the criteria that are taken into account by different stakeholder groups may vary widely (Andrews et al., 2006; Boyne, 2003). Examples are criteria set by elected politicians formulating goals and policies to be carried

¹ As also noted by Selden and Sowa (2004), scholars often also use "effectiveness" to describe organizational goal achievement, and the two will also in this context be used interchangeably.

through, service beneficiaries, and service providers. In the empirical setting of Danish high schools, examples of key stakeholders are students, parents, teachers, school principals and school boards. As indicated above, this dissertation privileges the goals and objectives formulated at the national political level, meaning that the criteria for the performance standards investigated in the dissertation are determined in the Danish parliament. In a public sector context, the ultimate principals are the democratically elected politicians, and their public mandate gives them a legitimate claim on authority in deciding what constitutes good performance, and in the end also the power to decide whether publicly owned organizations survive (Boschken, 1992). Hence, the politically determined standards for performance criteria in a democratic welfare state arguably have some precedence in terms of authority (Andersen et al., 2016).

The immediate implication of this approach is that relevant criteria for organizational performance that are not politically expressed or formulated are beyond the scope of this dissertation. Also, the papers do not assess *all* politically stated criteria of good performance in the analyses. Instead selected criteria for the outcomes of public service are investigated, which again limits the scope of the analyses comprised in the dissertation.

Finally, the adapted performance approach of this dissertation implies that the analyses provide a static picture of organizational performance. Compared to assessments of public service *improvements* that concern shifts in service standards in relation to a baseline, this dissertation solely looks at the relative achievements of different organizations in a single time period (Boyne, 2003). Further drawbacks pertaining to this approach are discussed in papers B and E, and Chapter 4 also discusses these issues in connection with the limitations of the dissertation.

Summing up, this dissertation focuses on performance *outcomes* and defines organizational performance in terms of organizations' achievement of *politically determined goals*.

2.2. Theoretical Background and Summary of Theoretical Expectations

In the following, the theoretical background for the main theoretical expectations of the dissertation is presented, and section 2.1.1 and 2.1.2 summarize the main theoretical arguments of the five papers comprised in the dissertation. The purpose of this part of the dissertation is to shed light on the *underlying theoretical approaches* of the individual studies and to give an *overview* of the theoretical expectations. A more detailed theoretical elaboration of the arguments is provided in the individual papers.

As outlined in section 2.1, the type of motivation founding the individual's commitment can be used as a common basis for understanding the nature and consequences of the different commitment dimensions (Meyer et al., 2004). Returning to Ryan and Deci's Self-Determination Theory, controlled and autonomous motivation defines the endpoints on a continuum for different types of motivation (Deci & Ryan, 1985; Gagné & Deci, 2005). Controlled motivation refers to extrinsic types of motivation (doing something because it leads to a separable outcome), whereas autonomous motivation refers to both extrinsic and intrinsic motivation (doing something because it is interesting or enjoyable) (Ryan & Deci, 2000). The continuum is illustrated in Figure 2.1 below. Figure 2.1 is based on Gagné and Deci's illustration of how individuals' 'perceived locus of causality' (i.e. the felt autonomy for behavior) is external for controlled motivations and internal for autonomous motivation (Gagné & Deci, 2005: 336). The figure furthermore shows how this dissertation elaborates on this framework by including also the proposed commitment relationships, which will be further discussed below. It is important to note that the papers do not aim to empirically test a potential causal relationship between motivational bases and commitment dimensions. The inclusion of Self-Determination Theory and its distinction between autonomous and controlled types of motivation in this dissertation merely serves to shed light on the theoretical foundation underlying the expectations developed and tested in the individual papers. The expectations on both organizational commitment and goal commitment developed in the papers overall build on the degree to which the different commitment dimensions are based on autonomous or controlled motivation (Ryan & Deci, 2000).

As mentioned in section 2.1 and depicted in Figure 2.1, *affective* and *normative* commitment is here expectedly based on autonomous types of motivational factors: affective commitment reflecting feelings of affiliation and identification with an organization or a goal, and normative commitment more normative and moral obligations towards an organization or a goal (Meyer & Allen, 1997). Based on Ryan and Deci's continuum, the difference between affective and normative commitment can be further substantiated. Recall that affective commitment reflects an individual's *desire* and can thus be said to build on *inherently autonomous* motivation (i.e. intrinsic motivation); the individual simply commits to the organization or its goals due to his or her interest in and enjoyment by doing so. Normative commitment on the other hand reflects feelings of *obligations* and internalized pressures and can thus be said to be based on what Ryan and Deci denote *moderately autonomous* or *autonomous* motivation; the employee either commits to an organization or a goal because he or she sees the importance of the values

they represent (identified regulation) or because they are congruent with his or her own values (integrated regulation) (Gagné & Deci, 2005).



Figure 2.1. Overview of Self-Determination Continuum and Commitment Relationships

In opposition to affective and normative commitment, *continuative* commitment is based on an instrumental and calculative relationship with the organization and thus follows from *controlled* or *moderately controlled* motivational factors; the individual either commits to an organization or a goal because of a need to maintain organizational membership due to a lack of alternatives or prior investments (external regulation), or because he feels pressured to do so to avoid feelings of, for instance, low self-esteem (introjected regulation) (Gagné & Deci, 2005). Individuals who act based on controlled motivation act with the intention to obtain a desired or avoid an undesired consequence, so their commitment is contingent on whether effort is instrumental to those ends (Gagné & Deci, 2005).²

² Note that theoretical expectations on the motivational basis of commitment differ in the literature. In Meyer et al.'s (2004) conceptualization, affective commitment is associated with all three types of autonomous motivation and continuative commitment only with controlled motivation (external regulation). Also, empirical findings are inconclusive; e.g., normative commitment is found to correlate highly with both moderately controlled motivation and autonomous motivation, which supports the theorization presented here as well as Meyer et al.'s (2004).

Summing up, affective, normative and continuative commitment can thus be argued to build on different motivational bases, which reflect different regulatory processes and in turn are predicted to have different behavioral consequences. The purpose of embedding the concept of commitment within the broader frame of different types of motivation described in Self-Determination Theory serves three purposes. The first purpose is that it further substantiates the choice undertaken in this dissertation, namely to focus on affective and normative commitment. As argued above, both affective and normative commitment can be argued to build on autonomous types of motivation (albeit involving different regulatory processes) and, in comparison to continuative commitment, thus to promote voluntary behavior that expectedly has positive performance implications for individuals' behavior and performance. Second, the Self-Determination Theory further clarifies how the three dimensions of commitment are distinct from one another, and finally, including Self-Determination Theory illustrates how commitment as a theoretical construct can be situated in the broader theoretical field of work motivation.

2.2.1. Organizational Commitment

In the following two main sets of theoretical expectations concerning organizational commitment are derived. The first set of expectations focus on the relationship between public managers' and employees' organizational commitment (investigated in paper A). The key question addressed here is how public managers' affective organizational commitment and leadership style are related to the affective organizational commitment of their employees. The second set of expectations focus on the relationship between organizational commitment and organizational performance (investigated in paper B). These expectations are derived by assessing the question of what affective, normative and continuative organizational commitment means to organizational performance outcomes in a public sector context.

The expectation concerning how public managers' affective organizational commitment relates to employees' affective organizational commitment fundamentally builds on psychological theories of basic needs and social identification processes. According to basic needs theory, individuals have a natural capacity and inclination to form bonds with social entities and groups. Both in Maslow's seminal Hierarchy of Needs Theory (1943) and within the abovementioned Self-Determination Theory (Deci & Ryan, 1985) individuals are argued to possess a need to feel a sense of belonging and acceptance among their social groups. This need to form relationships and feel connected to social entities is further developed in theories of social identity (Tjafel, 1978) and organizational identity (Ashforth & Mael, 1989; Pratt, 1998). Here it is argued that individuals not only have a need to form these bonds, but also (in part) derive their identity from these relationships (Meyer, 2009: 56). Accordingly, Meyer and colleagues argue that affective organizational commitment develops when an individual becomes involved in, recognizes the value relevance of, and/or derives his or her identity from an organization (Meyer & Herscovitch, 2001: 316). On this basis, making the organization a shared source of identification is in this dissertation argued to be key to affecting employees' affective organizational commitment. One way public managers can do this, as argued in paper A, is by expressing high affective organizational commitment themselves. Public managers serve as critical role models to their employees due to their formally assigned authority and power (Rainey & Steinbauer, 1999). Moreover, they shape both the formal and informal organizational processes with great importance for the internal integration within the organization (Rainey, 2009; Christensen et al., 2009). In this way managers are argued to encourage and inspire employees to follow their example. In paper A, we denote this process of managers transmitting their own affective organizational commitment to their employees as 'sharing the fire'. In a similar vein, Paarlberg and Lavigna (2010) recently stated that managerial practices are decisive for employees' affective organizational commitment because they communicate the key values in the organizational identity and how such values are translated into acceptable behavior. On this background, public managers' affective organizational commitment is expected to be positively related to employees' organizational commitment, because managers through their own organizational commitment strengthen or sustain a work environment employees can identify with and feel connected to (Eisenberger et al., 1986).

A proposed precondition for this positive transmission is that managers actually come across with their affective organizational commitment or in more popular terms 'walk the talk' (Paarlberg & Lavigna, 2010). Therefore, the leadership style of public managers and how it is perceived by the employees is furthermore expected to affect the relationship between managers' and employees' affective organizational commitment. A transformational leadership style is argued to support managers in communicating their affective organizational commitment in that it implies clearly articulating organizational goals and facilitating the process of connecting individual values to the organizational mission (Burns, 1978; Bass, 1990; Avolio et al., 2004). Moreover, it is argued that not only the degree to which the manager is transformational in his or her leadership, but also the congruence in manager-intended and employee-perceived transformational leadership is important (Favero et al., 2014; Yammarino & Atwater, 1997). According to the self-other agreement literature, managers' self-awareness and interpersonal orientation affect the congruence in manager intentions and employee perceptions of transformational leadership (Atwater & Yammarino, 1992, 1997; Fleenor et al., 2010). Supporting this argument, recent studies have also demonstrated that manager-intended and employee-perceived leadership is weakly correlated (see e.g. the recent study by Jacobsen and Andersen, 2015). On this background, the effect of transformational leadership on the relationship between managers' and employees' affective organizational commitment is expected to depend both on the degree of transformational leadership perceived by the employees and the degree of overrating by managers relative to employee perceptions. In order to describe the different combinations of employee-perceived transformational leadership and manager-intended transformational leadership, paper A differentiates between different types of managers according to their realism. The label 'realistic' denotes congruence in manager-intended and employee-perceived transformational leadership, whereas the label 'overambitious' is used when manager-intended transformational leadership is overrated relative to employeeperceived transformational leadership. A positive relationship between managers' and employees' affective organizational commitment is only expected in so far as managers are both seen as transformational leaders and are realistic about how transformational they are. In all other cases, managers' and employees' affective organizational commitment is, at best, expected to be unrelated.

Finally, concerning the relationship between organizational commitment and organizational performance, addressed in paper B, this dissertation mainly expects that both affective and normative organizational commitment will be positively related to organizational performance, whereas continuative organizational commitment will not. Previous studies on how organizational commitment affects performance (e.g. Angle & Perry, 1981; Mowday et al., 1982; Park & Rainey, 2007) have primarily focused on performance outputs (such as retention and absenteeism), and we thus know little about the implications for the *outcomes* of public service delivery. Organizational performance outcomes are often closer to the achievement of the politically defined objectives in the public sector than organizational performance outputs, and it is therefore, as argued in paper B, equally important, if not more important, to also address these implications of organizational commitment (Andersen et al., 2016).

Existing theoretical arguments concerning the relationship between organizational commitment and performance stem mostly from organizational behavior studies, psychology and generic management theories (Park & Rainey, 2007). And, as noted by Balfour and Wechsler (1991), it is within these streams of literature argued that employees who are affectively and normatively committed to the organization where they work are also more willing to make an extra effort for the organization, and in many work situations put their organizations' interest before their personal concerns (Balfour & Wechsler, 1991: 355). Moreover, it is argued that affective and normative organizational commitment have positive effects on retention and turnover intentions because these types of organizationally committed employees will take greater pride in their organizational membership and believe in the organization's goals and values (Riketta, 2002; Balfour & Wechsler, 1991).

Existing studies also argue that affective and normative organizational commitment has positive effects on in-role and extra-role job behavior (O'Reilly & Chatman, 1986; Balfour & Wechsler, 1991). In-role behavior is defined as the behavior required by formal job descriptions (Balfour & Wechsler, 1991) and extra-role behavior as behavior that is beneficial to the organization and going beyond formal job requirements (e.g., extra hours and effort and altruistic behavior) (Balfour & Wechsler, 1991). Conversely, the literature expects that *continuative* organizational commitment only has a positive effect on actual turnover and in-role behavior as continuatively committed employees merely remain with the organization because they need to (Meyer & Herscovitch, 2001). They are thus not expected to do more than the bare minimum to uphold membership of the organization (Meyer et al., 2002).

On the backdrop of these theoretical insights, empirical findings in the literature concerning the more specific relationship between organizational commitment and performance in a *public sector context* is reviewed in paper B. Results here are inconclusive. The findings consistently support the expected positive relationship between affective and normative organizational commitment and turnover (including turnover intentions) (e.g. Mowday et al., 1982; Angle & Perry, 1981; O'Reilly & Chatman, 1986; Balfour & Wechsler, 1991). Also continuative organizational commitment is consistently associated with lower actual turnover and higher turnover intentions (Balfour & Wechsler, 1991). The empirical findings in regard to performance criteria of organizational outputs more closely related to the final results of public service delivery such as extra-role behavior or employee effort do, however, not provide a clear picture. And, any linkage between all three dimensions of organizational commitment and organizational effectiveness in the literature is found to be tenuous at best (O'Reilly & Chatman, 1986; Balfour & Wechsler, 1991).

Building on these theoretical arguments and empirical findings, affective and normative organizational commitment is in this context theorized to be positively related to the performance outcome criteria of increasing the *qual*- *ity* of public service delivery. First individuals who are affectively and normatively committed to their organization are argued to be more willing to put in an extra effort as their behavior is voluntary and dependent on either a desire to pursue certain courses of action or perceptions of what is appropriate behavior within the organization, respectively. Second affective and normative organizational commitment is argued to be positively associated with the quality of public service delivery through personnel stability (O'Toole & Meier, 2003; Perrow, 1986) as employee retention expectedly exacerbates difficulties in building competence and mutual trust within organizations (Dunn, 1997).

In regard to the relationship between affective and normative organizational commitment and the performance outcome criteria of increasing the quantity of public service delivery, the expectations concerning the effects of affective and normative organizational commitment are more ambiguous. As argued in paper B and discussed above, the autonomous type of motivation driving affective and normative commitment could be expected to be more closely related to pursuing professional standards and thus behaviors aiming at securing quality rather than quantity of public service delivery. Individuals who identify with or experience normative obligations to support organizational goals and values could, however, theoretically also be expected to have an interest in securing the economic foundation for achieving these ends by increasing the efficiency of their efforts. Finally, *continuative* organizational commitment is not expected to have positive implications for performance outcome criteria of increasing neither the *quality* nor the *quantity* of public service delivery as such. As proposed above and confirmed in numerous empirical studies, continuatively committed employees cannot be expected to do more than the bare minimum to uphold their organizational membership and are therefore not expected to put in an extra effort to increase the quantity or the quality of public service delivery.

2.2.2. Goal Commitment

This last section of the chapter derives the theoretical expectations regarding employees' *goal commitment*, which can also be divided into two sets of expectations. The first set of expectations concerns the relationship between public managers' goal prioritization and employees' goal commitment (investigated in paper C and D). The main question guiding these theoretical expectations is how goal conflict and employee co-determination affect the relationship between public managers' goal prioritization and employees' goal commitment. The second set of expectations concerns the implications for organizational performance (investigated in paper E), and this part assesses how public managers' goal prioritization and employees' goal commitment are related to organizational performance.

The expectations concerning goal commitment are founded on the Goal Setting Theory, which, as first formulated by Locke and Latham (1990), builds on the tenet that conscious and well-specified goals affect individuals' attitudes and direct their behavior. Moreover goals are expected 1) to direct individuals' attention towards goal-relevant activities both cognitively and behaviorally, 2) to affect individuals' energy and efforts by appealing to their emotions, 3) to affect individuals' persistence and hence their effort over time, and 4) to affect individuals' actions by leading to arousal and development of task-relevant strategies for goal-attainment (Locke & Latham, 2002: 706-707). According to Goal Setting Theory, the characteristics of goals play a crucial role. More specifically, the theory states that specific and difficult goals lead to higher performance (Locke & Latham, 2002; Latham et al., 2008) because high and hard goals, compared to easily accomplishable goals, stimulate employee effort and arousal, and because specific goals are better at regulating the direction of employee attention and effort than poorly specified goals (Locke & Latham, 1990). Goal difficulty is defined as "the extent to which an individual's goal is discrepant (either positively or negatively) from that individual's capacity to achieve the goal" (Wright, 1992: 283), and goal specificity as goals that are clearly defined, delimited and concrete. In Goal Setting Theory, employees are thus expected to perform better, not due to ability or situation, but because of specific goal characteristics. Goal commitment is also a central concept in Goal Setting Theory, and is even proclaimed to be the "sine qua non" of goal setting (Latham et al., 2008). According to Goal Setting Theory, goal commitment is related to employee work behavior and performance because goal commitment moderates the goal difficulty-performance relationship (Locke & Latham, 2013). The positive effects of goal difficulty appear to be stronger among employees with higher goal commitment (Klein et al., 1999). Goal commitment in itself has, however, also been shown and theorized to have independent effects on employee behavior and performance (Locke & Latham, 1990). Wright, for instance, finds that goal commitment regardless of the level of goal difficulty increases employees' work efforts (Wright, 2007).

Building on the logic of Goal Setting Theory, this dissertation proposes that managerial goal prioritization affects both employees' goal commitment (investigated in paper C and D) and organizational performance (investigated in paper E) by directing managers' and employees' goal attention and efforts. The expectations developed in Goal Setting Theory pertain to goals that are assigned by others, jointly set or self-set (Locke & Latham, 1990). Note, however, that this dissertation focuses exclusively on performance goals defined as objects or aims of an action to attain a particular standard of performance (Perry et al., 2006: 509). Also, reflecting the often-noted characteristic of public organizations as having multiple goals, goal prioritization is here understood as managers' prioritization of a goal relative to other relevant goals within the organization. Within the empirical context of Danish high schools, achieving a high academic level or a high completion rate are examples of particularly salient performance goals.

Managerial goal prioritization is expected to signal goal importance and provide employees with a direction for their work efforts, and as argued in both paper C and D, a strong managerial goal prioritization is expected to challenge, encourage and/or inspire employees to assume greater ownership of their work attitudes and thus to increase their commitment to the goal (Wright, 2004). By prioritizing a goal, managers can communicate the salience of the goal for the organization as a whole, signal their own commitment to reaching the goal and make it easier for the employees to understand the relationship between effort and resulting performance (Porter et al., 1976; Wright, 2004).

As described in paper C, the association between managerial goal prioritization and employees' goal commitment in public organizations may depend on the level of goal conflict. Goal conflict is a central issue in the public sector as organizations typically face multiple goals, meant to consider and satisfy different democratic and public issues of society (Wilson, 1989; Rainey, 2009). This dissertation focuses on intra-individual conflict, that is, employees' perception of a conflict between two different goals pertaining to the same task. Intra-individual goal conflict is particularly interesting as public employees very often face two types of goals – "meet quantity criteria" and "meet quality criteria" - and thus potentially experience a conflict concerning which performance dimension to emphasize when completing a task (Locke et al., 1994). Goal conflict is expectedly related to both public employees' goal commitment and to the relationship between managerial goal prioritization and employees' goal commitment. First, employees who perceive a goal conflict may be less committed because striving towards one goal would be at the expense of another (Latham et al., 2008). Second, employees who perceive a goal conflict are expected to be less receptive to managers' goal prioritization because they feel that it entails incompatible action tendencies (Locke et al., 1994).

Paper D also investigates the relationship between managerial goal prioritization and employees' goal commitment, but focuses on how codetermination affects this relationship. Where goal conflict is argued to negatively impact the relationship between managerial goal prioritization and employees' goal commitment, employees' perception of co-determination is conversely expected to have a positive impact on the relationship between managerial goal prioritization and employees' goal commitment. Codetermination is defined in terms of processes in which influence is shared among individuals who are otherwise hierarchically unequal (Soonhee, 2002). Co-determination thus refers to employees' involvement in information processing, decision-making or problem-solving endeavors concerning either individual, work-related issues (such as planning a work task) or more strategic, organizational issues (such as allocation of resources and formulation of goals) (Soonhee, 2002). Employee co-determination is expected to have a potential to foster and direct employees' goal commitment.

The argument, presented in more detail in paper D, builds on expectations developed in the Human Resource Management literature and the Industrial Relations literature. First, it is argued in Human Resource Management studies that co-determination affects employees' work-related attitudes in the sense that it strengthens employees' sense of ownership of organizational values and ensures a dialogue across organizational levels (e.g. Soonhee, 2002; Rogers & Streeck, 1995). Second, Industrial Relations scholars suggest that employee co-determination qualifies and legitimizes managerial decisions and organizational decision procedures by facilitating an information flow within the organization, which in turn means that managers are in a better position to take decisions that will be accepted and embraced by employees (e.g. Freeman & Lazear, 1995; Frege, 2002). Common to both streams of research is that co-determination is associated with more satisfied employees with a greater understanding and appreciation for the organization's values and goals. Based on these arguments, co-determination is expected to strengthen the bond between employee, organization and manager, which affects the degree to which employees perceive the manager's goal prioritization as legitimate and in congruence with their own individual values and goals (Freeman & Lazear, 1995; Frege, 2002). Employees who feel that they are being involved and heard by their manager are thus expected to be more committed to the goal the manager has chosen to prioritize, and codetermination is in other words expected to positively affect the relationship between managers' goal prioritization and employees' goal commitment.

Finally, concerning the relationship between managerial goal prioritization, employee goal commitment and organizational performance, addressed in paper E, this dissertation expects that both managers' goal prioritization and employees' goal commitment are positively related to organizational performance. Note that organizational performance in this context only pertains to a quantity criterion for organizational performance outcomes. The relationship between goal setting and performance is supposedly among the top five established findings in the human resource management literature (Latham et al., 2008). However, this extensive literature on goal-setting's effects on performance has primarily been investigated with focus on the abovementioned goal characteristics (Latham et al., 2008; Wright, 2004). Our knowledge about the effects of goal prioritization thus remains sparse. Due to the multiple and ambiguous goals in public organizations, goal prioritization at the managerial level is in itself expected to be a potentially valuable tool to ensure goal attainment at the organizational level. Managerial goal prioritization is in this dissertation expected to reflect the disposition of managerial efforts. As described in paper E, managers can through new initiatives, policies and allocation of time and resources privilege a goal and improve the conditions for its achievement. Hence, managers who prioritize a goal highly are also expected to devote more attention to how the goal is achieved, to continuously review the progress and to ensure sufficient resources and supporting activities for goal achievement. On this background, managers' prioritization of a goal is expected to increase organizational performance on the particular standard of performance reflected in the goal.

In line with the arguments presented above, managerial goal prioritization is in this dissertation also expected to provide employees with a clear direction and help clarify job and performance expectations. Moreover, managerial goal prioritization can give employees a direction for their work and signal how they should prioritize their efforts (Porter et al., 1976, Wright, 2004). As mentioned previously in this section, prior empirical studies have documented an independent positive relationship between employees' goal commitment and performance and theoretically argued that goal commitment serves to direct employees' goal-related behavior (Locke & Latham, 1990, Latham et al., 2008). Therefore, goal commitment is expected to enhance organizational performance also in this context. The expectation here is that employees' goal commitment serves to secure mission stability, that is, consistency among organizational members in what they perceive as the critical goals of the organization (O'Toole & Meier, 2011). Mission stability is arguably particularly relevant in public organizations due to the multiple and volatile goals at the higher levels of the political system, and public employees' goal commitment is this light expected to be positively associated with organizational performance by ensuring that employee behaviors are directed towards achieving the politically determined goals of the organization.

Chapter 3 turns to the empirical findings of the five papers comprised in the dissertation and the question of whether the theoretical expectations derived above also find empirical support.

CHAPTER 3. EMPIRICAL FINDINGS

This chapter summarizes the empirical findings from the five papers in the dissertation. As outlined in Chapter 1, all analyses build on data from Danish high schools. The analyses of how managers' organizational commitment and goal prioritization are related to employees' organizational commitment and goal commitment, respectively, are based on individual level responses from the parallel principal survey and teacher survey (paper A, C and D). In the analyses investigating the performance implications hereof, the teacher responses have been aggregated at the school level, and performance is measured by the use of objective archival data on high school performance (paper B and E). This implies that the units of analysis are individuals in paper A, C and D and organizations in paper B and E. The individual papers present further details on the measures, the factor analyses and the data, but an overview of the central survey items used in the analyses can be found in table A1 and A2 (Appendix). Also, additional information on the data collection procedures and access to the interview guides and the survey questionnaires in their full length is provided in an online available data report (Jacobsen et al., 2013).

The chapter is divided into two parts. The first part, section 3.1, addresses the empirical findings in regard to organizational commitment (paper A and B) and the second part, section 3.2, addresses the empirical findings concerning goal commitment (paper C, D and E). The results and conclusions of the individual papers naturally come with several limitations, and these are addressed in Chapter 4 in a shared discussion and conclusion. The present chapter simply summarizes the empirical findings. This structure reflects that the different analyses are based on the same empirical foundation and include many of the same types of measures, which means that the papers share several drawbacks in regard to measurement validity and reliability, as well as limitations in terms of the generalizability of the results.

3.1. Organizational Commitment

In the following, the empirical findings of paper A and B are described with reference to the theoretical expectations presented in Chapter 2, section 2.2.1. The first part of this section reports the results from the analyses of how principals' organizational commitment and transformational leadership is related to teachers' organizational commitment. The second part summa-
rizes how principals' and teachers' organizational commitment is related to two criteria of high school performance, namely increasing the academic level and the completion rate, respectively. The more specific operationalization of organizational performance used in paper B is briefly described along with the summary of the empirical results.

3.1.1. Organizational Commitment and Transformational Leadership

The empirical analyses in paper A overall support the expectation that public managers' affective organizational commitment is related to employees' affective organizational commitment and that transformation leadership style is important for this relationship.

First, based on the overall distinctions between 1) transformational and non-transformational managers, and 2) realistic and overambitious managers, the results from a series of multilevel models investigating the relationship between principals' and teachers' affective organizational commitment within each of the four transformational leadership congruence groups show that the relationship between principals' and teachers' affective organizational commitment varies markedly across the congruence groups. Moreover, the analyses show negative coefficients for the two overambitious types of managers and for the realistic non-transformational managers. The only positive relationship between principals' and teachers' affective organizational commitment is found when the principal and the teachers agree that the principal is transformational and the principal does not overrate his or her own leadership style relative to the teachers – that is, the realistic transformational managers. A regression analysis with pooled data and dummy variables for each congruence group further confirms that there are statistical differences between the four groups. Accordingly, a Chow test reveals that the three negative coefficients are all clearly significantly different from the coefficient for realistic transformational managers (though not statistically different from one another).

In sum, the main contribution of this study is thus to show that the relationship between principals' and teachers' affective organizational commitment depends on both teacher-perceived transformational leadership and congruence in principal intentions and teacher perceptions of transformational leadership. Moreover, the findings in this regard suggest that public managers are in a position to affect their employees' affective organizational commitment, but also that it is not enough that managers are themselves affectively committed to the organization; managerial efforts to align with and share this commitment with their employees are vital.

3.1.2. Organizational Commitment and Organizational Performance

The empirical analyses of the relationship between organizational commitment and organizational performance in paper B show that neither principals' nor teachers' affective, normative or continuative organizational commitment are significantly related to high school performance. The OLS analyses comprise two performance criteria for Danish high schools, respectively. These, as mentioned, pertain to the quality and quantity of public service delivery, namely the academic level of the schools (aggregated school means of exam marks) and the high schools' completion rates (proportion of enrolled students who graduated a given year, aggregated school mean). Both performance measures are operationalized as 'school added value', that is, the individual school's contribution to either the academic level or the completion rate when the social demographic background of the student (aggregated at the school level) and type of high school are taken into account³.

Continuative commitment was not expected to entail a positive relationship with organizational performance for either performance criterion, and the insignificant relationships with school added value to both the academic level and the completion rates here are thus not surprising. As mentioned in section 2.2.1, continuatively committed employees have so far not been shown or theorized to do more than absolutely necessary to uphold organizational membership. The results are the same for both analyses comprising teachers' and principals' continuative organizational commitment.

Regarding the relationship between affective and normative organizational commitment and organizational performance, the analyses do not reveal any significant relationships between teachers' and principals' affective and normative commitment and school added value to the academic level and the completion rates. This study thus indicates that where organizational commitment in regard to performance output criteria might have positive

³ The school added value is a residual measure calculated on the basis of an observed completion rate or academic level and a predicted completion rate or academic level. The predicted completion rate and the predicted academic rate rely on social demographic variables at the school level (gender, birth year, parents' education level, parents' income (in DKK), parents' employment, parents' age and ethnicity) and the school type (HHX, HTX and STX). The school added value is then calculated as the predicted completion rate or academic level subtracted from the observed completion rate or academic level. If, for instance, the observed completion rate is higher than predicted, the result is a positive school added value, and if the observed completion rate is lower than predicted, the school added value is negative. See also paper B and E for a more thorough description.

effects, as described in section 2.2.1 in Chapter 2, the results of this paper imply that we cannot uncritically assume the same when it comes to the final outcomes of public service delivery. The empirical findings in paper B thereby underline the relevance of additional investigations that focus not only narrowly on the implications of organizational commitment for the members of the organizations but also the recipients of the services they deliver.

3.2. Goal Commitment

This section on a general level describes the empirical findings of paper C, D and E with reference to the theoretical expectations described in Chapter 2, section 2.2.2. All three papers look at goal prioritization among Danish high school principals and the affective and normative goal commitment of high school teachers. A brief clarification of the empirical approach to these concepts is thus presented before the empirical findings are summarized below.

Goal prioritization in this dissertation, as also noted in section 2.2.2, refers to the prioritization of an externally assigned performance goal relative to other relevant goals, and is here operationalized as the degree to which the goal of a high completion rate is prioritized relative to six other goals that can be identified as key goals in this educational setting: a high academic level, teacher well-being, student well-being, general education, college preparation and avoiding budget deficits (see also Appendix).

Employees' *goal commitment* is in paper C, D and E, as mentioned in Chapter 2 (section 2.1.1.), defined on the basis of a value-oriented approach, which refers exclusively to teachers' affective and normative commitment. Teachers' goal commitment is here operationalized as teachers' commitment to the goal of achieving a high completion rate. The operationalization of other theoretical constructs that are crucial for understanding and evaluating the findings of the papers are explained along with the summary of the empirical results (see also Appendix).

3.2.1. Goal Prioritization, Goal Commitment and Goal Conflict

The empirical analyses of paper C confirm the theoretical expectations derived on the basis of the Goal Setting Theory, namely, that goal conflict matters for employees' goal commitment and for the relationship between managerial goal prioritization and employees' goal commitment. Recall that goal conflict in this context is defined as intra-individual conflict that is employees' perception of a conflict between two different goals pertaining to the same task. Paper C focuses on the potential conflict between the goal of achieving a high completion rate and a high academic level, which are both goals that pertain to the task of teaching, and which expectedly could entail incompatible action tendencies. Goal conflict is measured by a single item asking teachers to what degree they experience a conflict between achieving a high academic level and a high completion rate. More specifically, the results of a series of random effects models show that the degree to which teachers perceive a goal conflict between achieving a high academic level and a high completion rate is very strongly negatively associated with teachers' commitment to the goal of achieving a high completion rate. Moreover, as described in paper C, the statistically significant and negative interaction term between principals' goal prioritization and teachers' perception of goal conflict indicates that the effect of principals' prioritization of the goal of a high completion rate on teachers' commitment to the same goal differs according to whether teachers perceive a conflict between achieving a high academic level and a high completion rate.

The analyses do not substantiate the theoretical expectation that managers' goal prioritization would in itself affect employees' goal commitment as the results show that principals' goal prioritization is not significantly associated with employees' goal commitment. In sum the paper's findings thus emphasize the merits of managerial attention to employees' perception of goal conflict in public service settings. Moreover the analyses in paper C indicate that integrating the organization's strategic goal practices with values that derive from employees' affective and normative values could be important in public organizations that adapt performance management systems, which focus on goal attainment and thus rely heavily on employees' goal commitment.

3.2.2. Goal Prioritization, Goal Commitment and Codetermination

The empirical findings from the analyses in paper D overall support the theoretical expectation that co-determination can be a valuable tool to ensure employees' goal commitment. More specifically, the results first of all indicate that teachers in Danish high schools have a broad interpretation of codetermination. A qualitative analysis based on interviews with five teachers and five principals at five different high schools shows that both individual level factors (e.g. planning of work task or individual competency development) and organizational level factors (e.g. allocation of resources and formulation of organizational goals) shape teachers' perceptions of their codetermination. Also, the analysis of the interviews reveals that both teachers and principals link co-determination to increased dialogue and information flows across organizational levels as prescribed by Human Resource Management and Industrial Relation scholars.

Building on this broad interpretation of co-determination, a quantitative analysis comprising a series of random effects models shows that teacherperceived co-determination moderates the relationship between principals' prioritization of the goal of achieving a high completion rate and teachers' commitment to that goal. Moreover, teachers' perception of co-determination has a significant, positive effect on this relationship. However, reflecting the result reported in section 3.2.1., the analyses find no empirical support for an independent relationship between managers' goal prioritization and employees' goal commitment. Again, the principals' goal prioritization and employees' goal commitment is not significantly related in the present analyses. On this basis, the main conclusion of paper D is that employees who feel that they are being involved and heard by their manager are also more committed to a goal the manager has chosen to prioritize.

In sum, the findings thus indicate that co-determination can facilitate or support employee goal commitment by increasing the internal organizational dialogue and/or by strengthening the legitimacy of managerial goal prioritization.

3.2.3. Goal Prioritization, Goal Commitment and Organizational Performance

The analyses in paper E focus on the implications of managerial goal prioritization and employees' goal commitment for organizational performance. The results of the OLS regression analyses first of all show that principals' goal prioritization has a significant, strong, positive relationship with high school performance. Paper E looks at one criterion of high school performance, namely completion rates, and, like paper B, focuses on the individual schools' contribution to the completion rate when the socio-demographic background of the students and type of high school are taken into account, that is, the school added value (in paper E this is denoted the 'completion impact'). More specifically, as noted in paper E, the analyses show that the school added value is 0.00363 higher for each point of goal prioritization (on a 0-100 scale), which implies that principals' goal prioritization can change the schools' completion rate with up to 36 percentage points (max) relative to what would be the predicted completion rate for the school, based on the socio-demographic background of the students and the type of high school.

The analyses do not lend clear empirical support to the expected effects of employees' goal commitment on organizational performance, which was theorized to result from higher mission stability. They only provide partial support for the proposed expectation as the relationship between teachers' commitment to the goal of achieving a high completion rate and the school added value to the completion rate at the outset is only borderline significant and becomes insignificant in further robustness analyses undertaken in the paper. The analyses also test the relationship between *teachers*' goal prioritization and organizational performance, but this test does not yield significant empirical substantiation for this relationship. Overall, the results indicate that the school added value to high schools' completion rates is not so much a question of the effect of employees' goal commitment or goal prioritization, but more of the impact of the principals' prioritization of the goal.

In sum, the empirical findings of paper E can be said to show that public managers' goal prioritization may be important for the goal-performance nexus and to indicate that public managers should not only concentrate on how they design goals, as suggested so far by the extensive literature on goal setting, but also on how they prioritize them.

CHAPTER 4. CONCLUSION AND PERSPECTIVES

The intention of this final chapter is firstly to bring the empirical findings of the dissertation's papers together and to relate them to the overall research questions of the dissertation (section 4.1). Second, the chapter evaluates the methodological strengths and limitations of the dissertation as a whole (section 4.2), and discusses some critical perspectives on potential downsides of work commitment in a public sector context (section 4.3). Finally, the chapter proposes an agenda for future research and presents practical perspectives that can be derived from the results (section 4.4).

4.1. Synthesizing the Results

What are the main conclusions to be drawn from this dissertation's analyses and findings? And how does the dissertation contribute theoretically to the literature on work commitment? In the following the empirical results of the dissertation are briefly synthesized and the main theoretical contributions presented.

This dissertation set out to answer the questions: What is the relationship between public management and employees' organizational commitment and goal commitment, respectively, and what are the implications for organizational performance? Concerning the relationship between public management and employees' organizational commitment and goal commitment the results suggest that high school principals are in fact in a position to influence the affective and normative commitment of their teachers. Two main conclusions can be drawn from the results in this regard: that principals' organizational commitment is positively related to teachers' organizational commitment when the principals are perceived to be transformational leaders and when principals are realistic about how transformational they are; and that principals' goal prioritization is positively related to teachers' goal commitment, but that this relationship depends on teachers' perception of goal conflict and co-determination. Where teachers' perceptions of codetermination have a positive effect on the relationship between principals' goal prioritization and teachers' goal commitment, goal conflict, conversely, has a negative one. Overall the results thus suggest that principals who seek to positively affect their teachers' work commitment can benefit from focusing their managerial efforts on either a combination of their own organizational commitment and leadership style or a combination of goal prioritization and initiatives directed towards teachers' perceptions of co-determination and goal conflict.

Concerning the question of how public management and employees' organizational commitment and goal commitment relate to organizational performance, the results suggest that only principals' efforts of goal prioritization are positively related to high school performance as neither teachers' organizational commitment nor their goal commitment are found to be related to organizational performance in this context. These results thus provide valuable empirical insights on what might be termed the scope conditions of work commitment as they indicate that work commitment may, as often theorized and empirically supported in the literature, be associated with outputs relating to the members of the organization, but not necessarily to the quality or the quantity in the outcomes of the services they deliver.

4.1.1. Theoretical Contributions

Returning to the figure from Chapter 1 on the contributions of the papers (see the corresponding Figure 4.1 below), each individual paper develops theoretical arguments for how public managers' efforts of goal prioritization, their commitment to the organization and their leadership style relate to employees' organizational commitment and goal commitment or what this means to organizational performance. On the backdrop of the arguments presented in the different papers and summarized in Chapter 3, this dissertation as a whole provides a theoretical framework for understanding the role employees' work commitment may play in the public management performance nexus. Moreover, the papers elaborate on existing theoretical arguments from more generic literatures such as management, organizational behavior and psychology in order to establish theoretical expectations that are particularly relevant in public service settings and hence in public administration research. Finally, the theoretical chapter has sought to integrate the concept of commitment within the frame of Self-Determination Theory and on that background provided further theoretical arguments for how we can differentiate and understand the motivational bases of the different commitment dimensions, and how commitment as a theoretical construct can be situated in the broader theoretical field of work motivation.



Figure 4.1. Overview of the contributions of the papers in the dissertation*

* Note: Adapted version of Figure 1.1 from Chapter 1.

(m) denotes manager, (e) denotes employee and (m-e) denotes manager and employee.

Needless to say, several questions remain for future research not least because the conclusions derived above should be interpreted in the light of a number of methodological limitations. The strengths and limitations of this dissertation as well as some critical perspectives on the potential drawbacks of work commitment in public organizations can, however, serve to evaluate how to most fruitfully pursue the research agenda on work commitment in public organizations. The following section thus turns to these issues before addressing the perspectives for both research and practice that can be derived on the basis of this dissertation.

4.2. Strengths and Limitations

Naturally, each paper has some distinctive methodological strengths and limitations, which are discussed in the individual papers. However, a number of strengths and limitations transcend the different papers, and these are addressed in the following discussion.

4.2.1. Internal Validity and Measurement

The analyses all rely on data from Danish high schools, and *the multilevel data structure* constitutes a major strength for the internal validity of the dissertation. First of all, the parallel surveys to principals and teachers provide an unusual opportunity to combine measures of managers' organizational commitment, leadership style and goal prioritization with measures of employees' work commitment and their perceptions of leadership, co-determination and goal conflict. On that background the analyses of paper A, C, and D paint a varied picture of the relationship between internal managerial efforts of accentuating the organizational goals and values and public employees' work commitment.

Second, the combination of survey data and archival data used for measuring organizational performance strengthens the robustness of the analyses in paper B and E by reducing the risk of measurement errors such as social desirability bias and common source bias. Self-assessments of performance are especially prone to social desirability bias (Meier & O'Toole, 2013), but have nonetheless been the primary measure on performance so far in the literature (Riketta, 2002). The analyses of this dissertation thus represent a strong alternative approach to investigating the performance implications of public management and work commitment at different organizational levels compared to existing studies within the field. As a final remark on the performance measure, a strength of the analyses is that they measure performance outcomes. As mentioned, previous studies have mostly been delimited to measures of organizational outputs (Meyer et al., 2002). Scholars of performance in public organizations have long posited the multidimensional nature of the concept relating to e.g. the phases of public service production and various units of analysis (Andersen et al., 2016; Boyne et al., 2006). Measuring the implications for the beneficiaries of public services and not solely the members of the organizations thus paints a more varied picture of how work commitment relates to performance.

The multiple data sources are comprised in a cross-sectional research design, as all the papers in the dissertation undertake either comparisons of individual relationships between manager and employees (paper A, C and D) or organizations (paper B and E) at one point in time. This means that the possibilities for causal interpretations of the analyses' findings are severely limited. The archival data on performance capture the task difficulty at the different schools by taking the socio-demographic variables related to the students into account and also allow for controls of past performance. This strengthens the robustness of these analyses by, to some extent, reducing the risk of confounding effects of for instance organizational cultures and structures. The results of the analyses should, however, be viewed in terms of the uncertainty incited by the important potential endogeneity biases that threaten their internal validity. There are inevitably still confounding effects from unobserved variables associated with both the independent and dependent variables that are not accounted for by the control variables included in the analyses, and there may also be loops of causality between the independent and dependent variables assessed in the different papers. As far as reverse causality, both teachers' and principals' organizational commitment could for instance be affected by how well the school is performing, as committing to a successful organization might be perceived as more desirable or inspirational (see paper B).

As noted above, the independent and dependent variables in the studies are measured by the use of different data sources, which reduces, but does not eliminate, the risk of common source bias. Halo effects can, for example, still disturb the measurement of the latent variables (Favero et al., 2014) and may also have affected the assessments of both teachers and principals on which the analyses are build. The measurements may therefore to some extent reflect not only the theoretical concept of work commitment, but also teachers' more overall attitudes toward the high school. It should also be noted that work commitment, being an inherently subjective construct, is measured by survey responses, which in itself challenges the measurement reliability by inducing a relatively high level of stochastic variation and reducing the strength of the results.

Finally, on theoretical grounds this dissertation has sought to establish arguments for how managerial organizational commitment and goal prioritization expectedly relate to employees' work commitment, and for how employees' work commitment relates to organizational performance. A drawback of this dissertation's results pertaining to the internal validity is that the empirical analyses do not measure these proposed intermediate mechanisms directly. Explicit theoretical models, as the ones presented in the papers may, however, contribute to a stronger theoretical foundation for studying work commitment in public organizations as the present field of literature has mainly been concerned with empirically documenting antecedents or determinants of commitment (Meyer et al., 2002; Klein et al., 2009).

4.2.2. External Validity

Danish high schools are a well-suited empirical case to investigate the stated theoretical expectations of the dissertation because they have a relatively simple management structure with substantial room for different managerial strategies. This ensures variability in the independent variable. Danish high schools also produce more or less identical services, which provide reasonable grounds for comparability across organizations. The results of this dissertation are, however, likely to have a broader international relevance. For instance, as noted in the papers, Danish high schools are in many ways rather similar to American high schools (Christensen & Pallesen, 2009). High schools also share key characteristics with a large number of other public organizations by being professionalized and decentralized organizations, where street-level bureaucrats have substantial discretion in carrying out their work tasks (Jacobsen & Andersen, 2015; O'Toole & Meier, 2011). The results may therefore also more generally be relevant for other similar areas of public service delivery. The dissertation's choice of setting nonetheless also represents some potential limitations, which indeed compromise the external validity of the results. First limitations concerning the types of employees and organizations in secondary education are discussed. Next, limitations related to the types of goals and performance dimensions on which the dissertation's analyses have focused will be addressed.

Secondary education in Denmark constitutes a hard test in the sense that it is extremely institutionalized with strong professional norms. Traditionally the area was also characterized by strong collective agreements, which meant that principals had to work within rather narrowly defined managerial boundaries. Both can be said to complicate the relationship between internal managerial initiatives and employees' work attitudes as well as between employees' work commitment and organizational performance. Public employees' organizational commitment could for example be expected to have a greater impact on performance in organizations where employees are less professionalized, as studies have shown that the organization means less to highly professionalized employees relative to their profession (Gouldner, 1957; Vandenberghe, 2009). Besides teachers' professional background, also principals' managerial leverage could influence the generalizability of the results. For instance, public managers' goal prioritization could mean less in public organizations where managers have a reduced amount of autonomy and less room for individualized goal-setting initiatives. Danish high schools are also quite homogeneous organizations with rather clearly defined and demarked boundaries, which could potentially strengthen the foundation for developing or sustaining organizational commitment among employees and/or a more effective communication of managers' own organizational commitment as well as their goal prioritization. Take for instance local government agencies or public hospitals, which typically comprise different types of public employees, have vague organizational boundaries or are large and complex entities. In such organizational settings it might at the outset be less clear for employees what the organizational goals and values are and there might also be several additional hierarchical levels from employees to top managers. This could complicate for instance managers' chances of communicating their organizational commitment through their transformational leadership or their goal prioritization. Future studies on other types of occupations and organizations are thus needed to test the wider applicability of the findings.

This dissertation has focused exclusively on organizational performance dimensions reflecting politically determined goals, and high schools' performance outcomes have furthermore been investigated independently from other performance criteria. This means that only a partial picture of the investigated high schools' performance is provided by the analyses, which limits the external validity of the results. It could be argued that there might be performance trade-offs in regard to other performance dimensions that are not captured by the analyses (Moynihan et al., 2011), just as employees' work commitment could be found to have a stronger effect on outcomes more closely related to the teachers' working environment, such as student wellbeing. Also, employees' affective and normative goal commitment could have a greater impact on their goal-related behavior if they were not bound to a specific performance standard but instead represented either more general mission-oriented values (such as providing students with general knowledge and preparing them for further education) or very specific self-set learning goals (Latham et al., 2008; Locke et al., 1994). Future studies of other types of goals and performance dimensions would thus likewise add to the wider applicability of the findings.

4.3. Addressing the 'Dark Sides' of Work Commitment

The concept of work commitment has an inherent, positive connotation, and most previous research has been preoccupied with the potential positive effects of increasing or sustaining commitment in organizations (Meyer & Maltin, 2010). This dissertation also mainly focuses on the potential gains of having committed employees. The conclusion is not, however, that work commitment is merely a question of 'the more the better'. As discussed in the individual papers, the empirical results also indicate potential drawbacks of commitment as well as limitations regarding the gains from having committed employees. In the following, both empirically and theoretically founded critical perspectives addressing the potential 'dark sides' of commitment are therefore discussed in more detail.

First, on the basis of the empirical results, it can be questioned whether work commitment is always a positive thing that public service organizations should merely strive to enhance. On the one hand the results from paper A suggest that public managers can positively affect the organizational commitment of their employees if they are also realistic transformational leaders. The analyses show that organizationally committed principals who are strong transformational leaders, but at the same time do not overrate their own leadership style relatively to the teachers at the school, also have more organizationally committed teachers. The combination of both high organizational commitment and realistic transformational leadership thus represents a potentially fruitful way of increasing public employees' organizational commitment. On the other hand, the analyses also show a negative relationship between principals' and teachers' organizational commitment when principals have a low degree of transformational leadership. An explanation could be that managers who do not clarify to the employees what the organization stands for and where it is heading create uncertainty about the organization's mission and vision, which in turn makes employees distance themselves from the organization and reduce their organizational commitment. Overall these results thus indicate that being a manager who is highly committed to the organization is not in itself sufficient. High levels of managerial organizational commitment must be accompanied by a realistic transformational leadership style, as it will otherwise potentially enforce harmful effects on employees' organizational commitment.

Second, based on the results from paper B and E it should also be emphasized that the gains from employees' work commitment may be limited when it comes to improving the quality and the quantity of public service outcomes at the organizational level: Neither teachers' organizational commitment nor their goal commitment is significantly related to these types of organizational performance. In other words, it is questionable whether work commitment translates into desirable behaviors towards users and citizens. This does, however, not mean that having committed employees is irrelevant to the organization, but that the effects hereof primarily may center on the members of the organization and not so much the beneficiaries of the services they produce. Further studies that investigate the implications for different performance outcomes as well as outcomes at the individual level would be greatly warranted to shed light on these potential prospects or limitations concerning employees' work commitment.

Third, on theoretical grounds, high levels of work commitment may also be associated with detrimental costs to both employee and organization. First, the relationship between commitment and work-related stress is referred to in the literature as 'the paradox of commitment' (Reilly, 1994). On the one hand, commitment can be argued to give employees a sense of purpose for their work and thereby to act as a resource that motivates active coping or buffers against work-related stress and professional burn-out (Meyer & Maltin, 2010). On the other hand, commitment can be argued to increase employees' vulnerability to the negative effects of stressors (Mathieu & Zajac, 1990) and thus to have an exacerbating effect. Employees who invest heavily in their organization or its goals based on feelings of desire and/or normative obligations are argued to experience stronger conflicting pressures from coping with demands from both the organization and other personal obligations as well as to be particularly susceptible to psychological stress related to the target of their commitment (Reilly, 1994).

Fourth, personnel stability and mission stability have in this dissertation theoretically been argued to follow from high levels of work commitment and to have positive implications for organizational performance. Moreover personnel stability is expected to contribute to preserve competencies and mutual trust within the organization, and mission stability to enhance consistency in organizational members' goal perceptions and behaviors (O'Toole & Meier, 2011). Potential downsides of stability resulting from high levels of work commitment are, however, not unthinkable. Early on, Janis (1972) in his seminal work on 'groupthink' argued that groups composed of highly committed members might be less open to new ideas or approaches. Correspondingly it can be argued that highly committed employees could become a barrier to creativity and change within an organization – at least in the short run. Affective and normative commitment is, as mentioned, often a result of long-term processes of identification and socialization, and highly committed employees may therefore be more reluctant or slow to adapt to new goals and values if these differ markedly from the ones they have been committed to so far (Meyer, 2009). Organizational commitment for instance imply strong ties between the individual and the existing mission of the organization and may therefore challenge the implementation of reforms or new public policies, if these contradict or contest employees' conception of what the organization stands and strives for. Hence it could be questioned whether the associated advantages of mission and personnel stability potentially resulting from work commitment come at the cost of adaptability and compliance to change.

Potential drawbacks of stability is also relevant to discuss in a principalagent perspective, because in the light of the political context in which public organizations are embedded high levels of work commitment could similarly be expected to impose greater risks of 'runaway agents' (McCubbins & Roger, 1987; Meier & Bohte, 2006). In Brehm and Gates' (1997) 'enhanced principal-agent perspective' both public employees' policy preferences and the social context in which they carry out their job (i.e. influences from peers and organizational culture) play a crucial role for their work-related behaviors. According to Brehm and Gates public employees are not unilateral 'workers' or 'shirkers' as they can respond by working to implement policy (working), shirking by relaxing on the job (leisure shirking), intentionally going slowly to subvert policy (dissent shirking) or actively working against policy (sabotage) (Brehm & Gates, 1997). In this light, it could be argued that, over time, highly committed employees may come to act as 'dissent shirkers' or even 'sabotagers'. That is, if employees under changing public policies or reforms choose persistently to follow preferences and objectives that have evolved on the basis of what they have been committed to so far, they thereby come to deviate from the interest of the political or administrative principals. Following, high levels of work commitment may be argued to be most beneficial for organizations with relatively stable missions or work task that build heavily on standard operation procedures or strongly institutionalized (or professionalized) job prescriptions, which clearly specify appropriate behaviors within the organization.

According to Meier and O'Toole the potential gains from organizational stability have for some time been downplayed in the literature in order to embrace entrepreneurial notions of public management, enactments of innovations of different kinds, and various forms of reinvention (O'Toole & Meier, 2003; Meier & O'Toole, 2011). In some of their recent studies they, however, point to the continuing pertinence of stability for organizational performance in a public sector context. In regard to personnel stability in educational organizations they for instance argue that the craft-like skills teachers acquire through years of experience are only partially transferable to other organizations (with for instance different mixes of students and different curricula), and that sheer time in position in a local setting may thus make a significant difference for their performance (O'Toole & Meier, 2003: 47). Notwithstanding the potential risks of strongly committed public employees pursuing their own policy preferences, the potential stability advantages resulting from high levels of work commitment, can equally be argued to offer possibilities for enhanced coherence to an otherwise chaotic policy setting that is exactly rife with opportunities for atomistic decision making.

A total overview of all the various implications for different types of organizational performance resulting from highly work committed public employees, can naturally not be settled on the basis of this dissertation. The questions raised in this discussion, on both empirical and theoretical grounds, however, indeed warrant further research. On this note the following section of the chapter now elaborates on perspectives for future research and practice.

4.4. Perspectives on Research and Practice

To wrap up this final chapter and the dissertation as a whole, the following discussion addresses how this dissertation may contribute to improving the future research agenda on work commitment in public organizations and to public management in practice.

4.4.1. Where Next? Suggestions for Future Research

The findings from the five papers comprised in this dissertation fill several gaps in the literature on work commitment in public organizations, but they also raise new questions relevant for future research on public management, employees' work commitment and organizational performance in a public sector context.

First, a major limitation of this dissertation – and the field more generally – is the uncertainty about cause and effect. Studies that explicitly seek to determine causality in regard to public managers' attitudes and leadership initiatives, employees' work commitment and organizational performance are thus needed. At least affective and normative types of commitment are difficult to stimulate in an experimental set-up because they are, as just mentioned, expectedly results of longer-term processes of socialization and identification within an organization. Therefore longitudinal studies that measure employees' work commitment over longer periods would greatly improve our knowledge on how work commitment develops and how it may be targeted more strategically by managers in the public sector. This dissertation has shown that the combination of measurements of work commitment and leadership measured at different organizational levels is useful for providing more varied answers to fundamental questions in the literature, and could thus also be a viable approach for future studies of the underlying mechanisms related to employees' work commitment. To begin to solve the question of causality though, studies that directly measure the intermediate variables would be greatly warranted.

In the light of the dissertation's theoretical framework, it could be interesting if new studies would empirically address the relationship between the different dimensions of commitment and their relationship to autonomously and controlled types of motivation. This would enhance our knowledge on how affective, normative and continuative commitment can be differentiated more clearly as theoretical constructs and begin to bridge the gap between the commitment literature and the broader theoretical field of work motivation even further.

This dissertation has assessed organizational commitment and goal commitment independently, but as suggested also in more recent studies

(Klein et al., 2009), a great task of looking into their potential interplay and interactions lies ahead. The two types of commitment have been investigated enduringly in separate literatures, and we thus know little about whether they should be seen as complementing, overlapping or competing. In the present context of rapidly changing organizational structures, an increasing amount of public administration reforms and more and more employments based on short-term contracts, it could be argued that the need for organizationally committed employees is surpassed by a need for employees who are more susceptible and willing to commit to changing performance goals and adapt to organizational restructurings. On the other hand, as noted by Meyer (2009), successful implementation of change may be dependent on organizationally committed employees, why this type of committed employees could also become an increasingly valuable asset for public organizations.

A novel approach of this dissertation has been to investigate the relationship between employees' work commitment and organizational performance outcomes both in terms of quality and quantity. More research in this direction, which tests the wider applicability of the findings detected here is especially important for public managers in order to evaluate what types of performance implications can be expected to result from managerial initiatives aimed at increasing or sustaining employee commitment within an organization. Finally, as also indicated in section 4.2, more studies that investigate the relationship between internal managerial efforts of accentuating the organizational goals and values and public employees' work commitment in different organizational settings, with different types of public employees, and in different national cultures is necessary, in order to improve our knowledge on the scope conditions and contextual influences that might impede or strengthen the relevance of employees' work commitment in public service delivery.

4.4.2. So What? Practical Perspectives

What do the results mean for public management in practice? Or, more broadly, what can public managers take away from this dissertation on work commitment? The validity of policy recommendations should always be viewed in light of the caveats and limitations of the studies from which they are derived – and this is no exception. In light of the discussion on the internal and external validity of the findings in this dissertation, the following discussion, with caution, turns to their potential significance for public management in practice.

In the aftermath of New Public Management initiatives that introduced market-like approaches of organizing and incentivizing public employees, the findings offer an alternative approach for public managers by emphasizing the potential gains, in terms of committed employees, of focusing on internal managerial efforts of accentuating the organizational goals and values.

In a broader perspective, the results of paper A first of all support the often expressed theorem that 'management matters' in the sense that managers are in a position to affect their employees' organizational commitment – for the better and for the worse. In order to positively share their organizational commitment with the employees, however, managers have to be realistic transformational leaders. It can therefore be said to be worthwhile if organizationally committed managers are not only transformational in their leadership style but *also* aware of and sensitive to their employees' attitudes and perceptions.

Turning to the performance implications of organizational commitment, the results of paper B suggest that, at this point, public managers should not assume that being organizationally committed or having organizationally committed employees will alter the quantity or quality of the outcomes of the services the organization produces. There may be other valuable gains of organizational commitment to the organization as shown in numerous previous studies, such as employee retention and job satisfaction, but this dissertation suggests that increased organizational performance might not be one of them.

Conversely, paper E suggests that public managers' prioritization of a goal is related to how their organizations perform on this dimension. In line with earlier recommendations promoting goal-setting initiatives, goal prioritization can thus be argued to be a fruitful means to increasing organizational performance. On this background, a critical challenge for public managers is to make sure that their goal prioritization is aligned with their organization's mission and visions. Moreover, the results of paper C and D suggest that managers actually also may have tools to ensure that employees feel affectively and normatively committed to the prioritized goal. By increasing employees' co-determination in the workplace and working with initiatives that alleviate employee perceptions of goal conflict, the chances are that these employees also feel a greater obligation and desire to commit to the goal the manager has chosen to prioritize.

Concluding, the aims of ensuring public organizations' performance are manifold and sustaining or enhancing work commitment in public organizations may have both advantages and disadvantages dependent on the perspective. Theoretical and empirical insights on the relationship between public management, employees' work commitment and organizational performance are thus critical to enhance our knowledge on the relevance and role of work commitment in a public sector context, which is what this dissertation has contributed to.

LITERATURE

- Andersen, L. B., A. Boesen and L. H. Pedersen (2016). Performance in Public Organizations: Clarifying the Conceptual Space. *Forthcoming in Public Administration Review*.
- Andrews, R. M., G. A. Boyne, and R. M. Walker (2006). Strategy Content and Organizational Performance: An Empirical Analysis. *Public Administration Review* 66(1): 52–63.
- Angle, H. L. and J. L. Perry (1981). An Empirical Assessment of Organizational Commitment and Organizational Effectiveness. *Administrative Science Quarterly* 26: 1-14.
- Ashforth, B. E. and F. Mael (1989). Social Identity Theory and the Organization. *Academy of Management Review* 14 (1) 20-39.
- Atwater, L. E. and F. J. Yammarino (1992). Does Self-Other Agreement on Leadership Perceptions Moderate the Validity of Leadership and Performance Predictions? *Personnel Psychology* 45(2): 141-164.
- Atwater, L. E. and F. J. Yammarino (1997). Self-Other Rating Agreement. pp. 121-174 in G. R. Ferris, (ed.), *Research in Personnel and Human Resources Management*, Greenwih, CT: JAI Press.
- Avolio, B. J., W. Zhu, W. Koh and P. Bhatia (2004). Transformational Leadership and Organizational Commitment: Mediating Role of Psychological Empowerment and Moderating Role of Structural Distance. *Journal of Organizational Behavior* 25(8): 951-574.
- Balfour, D. L., and B. Wechsler (1991). Commitment, Performance, and Productivity in Public Organizations. *Public Productivity and Management Review* 14: 355-367.
- Balfour D. and B. Wechsler (1996). Organizational Commitment: Antecedents and Outcomes in Public Organizations. *Public Productivity and Management Review* 29: 256-277.
- Bass, B. M. (1990). From Transactional to Transformational Leadership: Learning to Share the Vision. *Organizational Dynamics* (Winter): 19-31.
- Bass, B. M. and R. E. Riggio (2006). *Transformational Leadership*, 2nd ed. Mahwah, NJ: Lawrence Erlbaum.
- Becker, H. S. (1960). Notes on the Concept of Commitment. *American Journal of Sociology* 66: 32–42.
- Bohte, J. and K. J. Meier (2002). Goal Displacement: Assessing the Motivation for Organizational Cheating. *Public Administration Review* 60(2): 173-182.
- Boschken, H. L. (1992). Analyzing Performance Skewness in Public Agencies: The Case of Urban Mass Transit. *Journal of Public Administration Research and Theory* 2 (3): 265-288.
- Boyne, G. A. (2002). Concepts and Indicators of Local Authority Performance: An Evaluation of the Statutory Framework in England and Wales. *Public Money and Management* 22 (2): 17–24.

- Boyne, G. A. (2003). Sources of Public Service Improvement: A Critical Review and Research Agenda. *Journal of Public Administration Research and Theory* 13 (3): 367-394.
- Boyne, G. A., K. J. Meier, L. J. O'Toole and R. M. Walker (2006). Public Management and Organizational Performance: An agenda for Research. pp. 295-311 in G. A. Boyne, K. J. Meier, L. J. O'Toole Jr., and R. M. Walker (eds). *Public Service Performance: Perspectives on Measurement and Management*. New York: Cambridge University Press.
- Brehm, J. and S. Gates (1997). *Working, Shirking, and Sabotage: Bureaucratic Response to a Democratic Public.* Ann Arbor, Michigan: University of Michigan Press.
- Brewer, G. A. (2006). All Measures of Performance Are Subjective: More Evidence on US Federal Agencies. pp. 35-54 in G. A. Boyne, K. J. Meier, L. J. O'Toole Jr., and R. M. Walker (eds). *Public Service Performance: Perspectives on Measurement and Management*. New York: Cambridge University Press.
- Burns, J. M. (1978). Leadership. New York: Harper & Row.
- Christensen, J. G. and T. Pallesen (2009). Public Employee Trends and the Organization of Public Sector Tasks. pp. 7-33 in H. U. Derlien and B. G. Peters (eds). *The State at Work: Comparative Public Service Systems. Vol. 2.* Cheltenham: Edward Elgar Publishing.
- Christensen. T., P. Lægreid, P. G. Roness and K. A. Røvik (2009). Organisasjonsteori for offentlig sektor. Oslo: Universitetsforlaget.
- Cameron, K. S. (1986). Effectiveness as Paradox: Consensus and Conflict in the Conceptions of Organizational Effectiveness. *Management Science* 32(5): 539-553.
- Cohen, A. (2003). *Multiple Commitments in the Workplace: An Integrative Approach*. Mawah, NJ: Lawrence Erlbaum.
- Deci, E. L., and R. M. (1985). *Intrinsic Motivation and Self-Determination in Human Behavior*. New York, NY: Plenum.
- Dunn, D. D. (1997). *Politics and Administration at the Top: Lessons from Down Under*. Pittsburgh: University of Pittsburgh Press.
- Eisenberger, R., R. Huntington, S. Hutchison and D. Sowa (1986). Perceived Organizational Support. *Journal of Applied Psychology* 71: 500-507.
- Favero, N., K. J. Meier, and J. L. O'Toole Jr. (2014). Goal, Trust, Participation, and Feedback: Linking Internal Management with Performance Outcomes. *Journal of Public Administration and Theory*. Available online.
- Fleenor, J. W., J. W. Smither, L. E. Atwater, P. W. Braddy, and R. E. Sturm (2010). Self-Other Rating Agreement in Leadership: A Review. *The Leadership Quarterly* 21:1005-1034.
- Freeman, R. B. and E. P. Lazear (1995). An Economic Analysis of Work Councils. pp. 27-50 in J. Rogers and W. Streeck (eds). Work Councils. Consultation, Representation, and Cooperation in Industrial Relations. Chicago: University of Chicago Press.

- Frege, C. (2002). A Critical Assessment of the Theoretical and Emprical Research on German Work Councils. *British Journal of Industrial Relations* 40(2): 221-48.
- Gagné, M. and E. L. Deci (2005). Self-Determination Theory and Work Motivation. *Journal of Organizational Behavior* 26:331-62.
- Gagné, M., E. Chemolli, J. Forest and R. Koestner (2008). A Temporal Analysis of the Relation between Organisational Commitment and Work Motivation. *Psychologica Belgica* 48: 219-362.
- Gouldner, A. W. (1957). Cosmopolitans and Locals: Toward and Analysis of Latent Social Roles. *Administrative Science Quarterly* 2: 281-306.
- Heffron, F. (1989). *Organizations Theory and Public Organizations The Political Connection*. New Jersey: Prentice Hall.
- Jacobsen, C. B., C. D. Staniok, T. S. Nielsen, J. Pedersen and L. B. Andersen (2013). Organisering, ledelse og effektivitet i de danske ungdomsuddannelser, datarapport. Available here:
- http://pure.au.dk/portal/da/persons/camilla-denager-staniok(f6cabc4f-e504-4903-bfa3-9d8f1fbe9e2c)/publications/organisering-ledelse-og-effektivitet-ide-danske-ungdomsuddannelser-datarapport(f643b278-d841-43a3-8305-83759a822b99).html (Tilgået d. 16-03-16).
- Jacobsen, C. B. and L. B. Andersen (2015). Is Leadership in the Eye of the Beholder? A Study of Intended and Perceived Leadership Practices and Organizational Performance. *Public Administration Review*. Available online.
- Janis, I. L. (1972). Victims of Groupthink. Boston: Houghton Mifflin.
- Klein, H. J., T. E. Becker, and J. P. Meyer (2009). *Commitment in Organizations*. *Accumulated Wisdom and New Directions*. New York: Routledge.
- Klein, H. J., J. C. Molloy, and C. T. Brinsfield (2012). Re-conceptualizing Workplace Commitment to Redress a Stretched Construct: Revisiting Assumptions and Removing Confounds. *Academy of Management* 37(1): 130-151.
- Klein, H. J., M. J. Wesson, J. R. Hollenbeck and B. J. Alge (1999). Goal Commitment and the Goal-setting Process: Conceptual Clarification and Empirical Synthesis. *Journal of Applied Psychology* 84: 885–896.
- Latham, G. P. (2012). *Work Motivation: History, Theory, Research, and Practice* (2ed). Thousand Oaks, CA: SAGE Publications.
- Latham, G. P., L. Borgogni, and L. Pettita (2008). Goal Setting and Performance Management in the Public Sector. *International Public Management Journal* 11(4): 385-403.
- Lipsky, M. (1980). *Street-level Bureaucracy: Dilemmas of the Individual in Public Services*. New York: Russell Sage Foundation.
- Locke, E. A. and G. P. Latham (1990). *A Theory of Goal Setting and Task Performance*. Englewood Cliffs, NJ: Prentice-Hall.
- Locke, E. A., and G. P. Latham (2002). Building a Practically Useful Theory of Goal Setting and Task motivation: A 35-year Odyssey. *American Psychologist* 57: 705–717.

- Locke, E. A., K. G. Smith, M. Erez, D. Chan and A. Schaffer (1994). The Effects of Intra-individual Goal Conflict on Performance. *Journal of Management* 20(I): 67-91.
- Locke, E. A., and G. P. Latham (2013). *New Developments in Goal Setting and Task Performance*. New York, NY: Routledge.
- Lynn, L. E. Jr. and R. W. Robichau (2013). Governance and Organisational Effectiveness: Towards a Theory of Government Performance. *Journal of Public Policy* 33: 201-228.
- Maslow, A. H. (1943). A Theory of Human Motivation. *Psychological Review* 50: 370-396.
- Mathieu, J. E. and D. M. Zajac (1990). A Review and Meta-analysis of the Antecedents, Correlates, and Consequences of Organizational Commitment. *Psychological Bulletin* 108: 171-194.
- McCubbins, M. and R. Noll (1987). Administrative Procedures as Instruments of Political Control. *Journal of Law, Economics, and Organization* 3 (2): 243–277.
- Meier, K. J. (1987). *Politics and the Bureaucracy: Policymaking in the Fourth Branch of Government.* (2ed). Monterey, CA: Brooks/Cole Publishing Company.
- Meier, K. J., and J. Bohte (2006). *Politics and the Bureaucracy*. 5th ed. Belmont, CA: Wadsworth.
- Meier, K. J. and L. J. O'Toole (2013). Subjective Organizational Performance and Measurement Error: Common Source Bias and Spurious Relationships. *Journal of Public Administration Research and Theory* 23(2): 429-456.
- Meyer, J. P. (2009). Commitment in a Changing World of Work. pp. 37-68 in H. J. Klein, T. E. Becker, & J. P. Meyer (eds.), *Commitment in Organizations: Accumulated Wisdom and new Directions*. New York: Routledge/Taylor and Francis.
- Meyer, J. P., & E. R. Maltin (2010). Employee Commitment and Well-being: A Critical Review, Theoretical Framework and Research Agenda. *Journal of Vocational Behavior* 77: 323-337.
- Meyer, J. P. and N. J. Allen (1997). *Commitment in the Workplace: Theory, Research, and Application*. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Meyer, J. P. and L. Herscovitch (2001). Commitment in the Workplace: Toward a General Model. *Human Resource Management Review* 11: 299–326.
- Meyer, J. P., D. J. Stanley, L. Herscovitch and L. Topolnytsky (2002). Affective, Continuance, and Normative Commitment to the Organization: A Metaanalysis of Antecedents, Correlates, and Consequences. *Journal of Vocational Behavior* 61: 20–52.
- Meyer, J. P., T. E. Becker, and C. Vandenberghe (2004). Employee Commitment and Motivation: A Conceptual Analysis and Integrative Model. *Journal of Applied Psychology* 89: 991-1007.

- Meyer, J. P., T. E. Becker and R. Van Dick (2006). Social Identities and Commitments at Work: Toward an Integrative Model. *Journal of Organizational Behavior* 27: 665–683.
- Moynihan, D. P. (2010). A Workforce of Cynics? The Effects of Contemporary Reforms on Public Service Motivation. *International Public Management Journal* 13: 24–34.
- Moynihan, D. P., and S. K. Pandey (2010). The Big Question for Performance Management: Why do Managers Use Performance Information? *Journal of Public Administration Research and Theory* 20: 849–866.
- Moynihan, D. P., S. Fernandez, S. Kim, K. M. LeRoux, S. J. Piotrowski, B. E. Wright and K. Yang (2001). Performance Regimes Amindst Governance Complexity. *Journal of Public Administration Research and Theory* 21(suppl 1): i141-i155.
- Mowday, R. T., R. M. Steers, and L. W. Porter (1979). The Measurement of Organizational Commitment. *Journal of Vocational Behavior* 14: 224-247.
- Mowday, R. T., L. W. Porter and R. M. Steers (1982). *Employee- organization Linkages: The Psychology of Commitment, Absenteeism, and Turnover*. New York: Academic Press.
- Neubert, M. J. and C. Wu (2009). Action Commitments. pp. 179-213 in H. J. Klein,T. E. Becker, and J. P. Meyer (eds.), *Commitment in organizations: Accumulated wisdom and new directions*. New York: Routledge/Taylor and Francis.
- O'Reilly, C. and J. Chatman (1986). Organizational Commitment and Psychological Attachment: The Effects of Compliance, Identification, and Internalization on Prosocial Behavior. *Journal of Applied Psychology* 71: 492-499.
- O'Toole, J. L. Jr. and K. J. Meier (2003). Plus ça Change: Public Management, Personnel Stability, and Organizational Performance. *Journal of Public Administration Research and Theory* 13(1): 43–64.
- O'Toole, J. L. Jr. and K. J. Meier (2011). *Public Management. Organizations, Governance, and Performance*. Cambridge University Press.
- Paarlberg, L. E. and B. Lavigna (2010). Transformational Leadership and Public Service Motivation: Driving Individual and Organizational Performance. *Public Administration Review* 70(5): 710-718.
- Park, S. M. and H. G. Rainey (2007). Antecedents, Mediators, and Consequences of Affective, Normative, and Continuance Commitment: Empirical Tests of Commitment Effects in Federal Agencies. *Review of Public Personnel Administration* 27(3): 197-226.
- Perrow, C. (1986). *Complex Organizations: A Critical Essay*. 3rd ed. New York: Random House.
- Perry, J. L., and L. R. Wise (1990). The Motivation Bases of Public Service. *Public Administration Review* 50: 367-373.
- Perry, J. L., D. Mesch, and L. Paarlberg (2006). Motivating Employees in a New Governance Era: The Performance Paradigm Revisited. *Public Administration Review* 66: 505-14.
- Pollitt, C. (2013). Logics of Performance Management. *Evaluation* 19(4): 346–363.

- Porter, L. W., W. J. Crampon and F. J. Smith (1976). Organizational Commitment and Managerial Turnover: A Longitudinal Study. *Organizational Behavior and Human Performance* 15: 87-98.
- Pratt, M. G. (1998). To Be or Not to Be? Central Questions in Organizational Identification. pp. 171-207 in D.A. Whetten and P. C. Godfrey (eds.). *Identity in Organizations: Developing Theory through Conversations*. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Rainey, H. G. (2009). *Understanding and Managing Public Organizations*. 4th ed. John Wiley and Sons.
- Rainey, H. G. and P. Steinbauer (1999). Galloping Elephants: Developing Elements of a Theory of Effective Government Organizations. *Journal of Public Administration Research and Theory* 9(1): 1-3.
- Reilly, N. P. (1994). Exploring a paradox: Commitment as a moderator of the stressor–burnout relationship. *Journal of Applied Social Psychology* 24: 397–414.
- Riccucci, N. M. (2005). Street-Level Bureaucrats and Intrastate Variation in the Implementation of Temporary Assistance of Needy Families Policies. *Journal of Public Administration Research and Theory* 15(1): 89-111.
- Riketta, M. (2002). Attitudinal Organizational Commitment and Job Performance: A Meta-analysis. *Journal of Organizational Behavior* 23: 257–266.
- Rogers, J. and W. Streeck (1995). The Study of WorkCuncils: Concepts and Problems. pp. 3-26 in J. Rogers and W. Streeck (eds.). *Work Councils. Consultation, Representation, and Cooperation in Industrial Relations.* Chicago and London: University of Chicago Press.
- Romzek, B. S. (1990). Employee Investment and Commitment: The Ties that Bind. *Public Administration Review* 50: 374-382.
- Ryan, R. M., E. L. Deci (2000). Intrinsic and Extrinsic Motivations: Classic Definitions and New Directions. *Contemporary Educational Psychology* 25:54-67.
- Salancik, G. (1977). Commitment and the Control of Organizational Behavior and Belief. pp. 123-35 in B.M. Shaw and G.R. Salancik (eds.). *New Directions in Organizational Behavior*. St Clare Press, Chicago, IL.
- Selden, S. C. and J. E. Sowa (2004). Testing a Multi-dimensional Model of Organizational Performance: Prospects and Problems. *Journal of Public Administration and Research Theory* 14 (3): 395–416.
- Solinger, O. N., W. van Olffen, and R. A. Roe (2008). Beyond the Three-component Model of Organizational Commitment. *Journal of Applied Psychology* 93(1): 70-83.
- Soonhee, K. (2002). Participation Management and Job Satisfaction: Lessons for Management Leadership. *Public Administration Review* 62(2): 231-241.
- Stazyk, E. C., S. K. Panday and B. E. Wright (2011). Understanding Affective Organizational Commitment: The Importance of Institutional Context. *The American review of Public Administration* 41: 603-624.
- Steinhaus, C. S. and J. L. Perry (1996). Organizational Commitment: Does Sector Matter? *Public Productivity & Management Review* 19(3): 278-288.

- Tajfel, H. (ed.) (1978). *Differentiation between Social Groups: Studies in the Social Psychology of Intergroup Relations*. London: Academic Press.
- Vandenberghe C. (2009). Organizational Commitments. pp. 103-105 in H. J. Klein,T. E. Becker and J. P. Meyer (eds.), *Commitment in Organizations: Accumulated Wisdom and New Directions*. New York: Routledge/Taylor and Francis
- Wilson, J. Q. (1989). *Bureaucracy. What Government Agencies Do and Why They Do it.* BasicBooks.
- Wright, B. E. (2004). The Role of Work Context in Work Motivation: A Public Sector Application of Goal and Social Cognitive Theories. *Journal of Public Administration Research and Theory* 14(1): 59-78.
- Wright, P. M. (1992). A Theoretical Examination of the Construct Validity of Operationalizations of Goal Difficulty. *Human Resource Management Review* 2: 275-98.
- Wright, B. E. (2007). Public Service and Motivation: Does Mission Matter? *Public Administration Review* 1: 54-64.
- Yammarino, F. and L. Atwater (1997). Do Managers See Themselves as Others See Them? Implications of Self-Other Rating Agreement for Human Resources Management. *Organizational Dynamics* 25(4): 35-44.

APPENDIX

Table A1 and A2 below provide an overview of the most central survey items used in the different analyses of the five papers within the dissertation. The items of commitment, transformational leadership and co-determination have been used to measure reflective indexes by the use of exploratory and confirmatory factor analyses. Generally, the items have fitted the expected factor structures. The individual papers present further details on measures, factor analyses and data. As noted, an online data report also provides additional information on data collection procedures, interviewguides and survey questionnaires⁴ (Jacobsen et al., 2013).

⁴ Click <u>here</u> to access the data report.

Organizational commitment (principals and teachers)**		
Affective	I do not feel emotionally attached to the school.	
	Jeg føler mig ikke følelsesmæssigt knyttet til skolen.	
	I do not have a strong sense of belonging to the school	
	Jeg har ikke en stærk følelse af at høre til skolen.	
Normative	I would feel guilty if I left the school right now.	
	Jeg ville få skyldfølelse, hvis jeg forlod skolen lige nu.	
	I would not leave my school right now because I have a sense of obligation to the people in it.	
	Jeg vil ikke forlade skolen nu, fordi jeg føler mig forpligtet overfor de øvrige ansatte.	
Continuative	I feel that I have too few options to consider leaving this school.	
	Jeg mener, at jeg har for få andre muligheder til overhovedet at overveje at forlade skolen.	
	One of the few negative consequences of leaving this school would be the scarcity of available alternatives.	
	En af de få negative konsekvenser ved at forlade skolen ville være manglen på reelle alternativer for et andet arbejde.	
Transformational leadership (p	principals and teachers)**	
I / My principal	provide(s) a compelling vision of the organization's future.	
Jeg / Min nærmeste leder	tegner et overbevisende billede af fremtiden for organisationen.	
	articulate(s) and generate(s) enthusiasm for a shared vision and mission.	
	skaber opbakning omkring en fælles vision og mission.	
	facilitate(s) the acceptance of common goals for the school.	
	fremmer lærernes accept af fælles mål for skolen.	
	say(s) things that make employees proud to be part of the organization.	
	siger ting, som gør medarbejderne stolte af at være en del af organisationen.	

Table A1. Overview of central survey items used in paper A-B *

* Danish versions of the items are displayed in italics.

**1 X at a 5 point Likert scale from "completely disagree" to "completely agree".

Table A2. Overview of central survey items used in paper C-E*

Goal commitment (teachers)**	
Affective	I really want to achieve a high completion rate. Jeg ønsker virkelig at opnå en høj gennemførelsesprocent på skolen. Achieving a high completion rate is as important to me as it is to the school En høj gennemførelsesprocent på skolen er ligeså vigtigt for mig som for skolen.
Normative	I owe it to my school to do my best to achieve a high completion rate. Jeg skylder skolen at gøre mit bedste for at opnå en høj gennemførelsesprocent på skolen. I feel obliged to do my best to achieve a high completion rate. Jeg føler mig forpligtiget til at gøre mit bedste for at skabe en høj gennemførelses- procent på skolen.
Goal prioritiz	zation (principals and teachers)
	How do you prioritize the following goals? Rank the goals on a scale from 1–7. 1 for the highest prioritized goal and 7 for the least prioritized goal. Every number can only be assigned once. Write 0 if a goal is not a priority. Hvordan vil du prioritere følgende målsætninger? Rangér målsætningerne på en ska-

la fra 1-7. 1 gives til den højest prioriterede målsætning og 7 til den lavest prioriterede målsætning. Hvert tal må kun tildeles én gang. Hvis du vurderer, at en målsætning ikke er relevant, skrives der blot 0.

__General education / Almen dannelse

__College preparation / Studieforberedelse

- __Teachers wellbeing / Lærertrivsel
- __Students wellbeing / Elevtrivsel
- __High level of academic achievements / Højt fagligt niveau

__High completion rate / Høj gennemførelsesprocent (fastholdelse)

__Avoid budget deficits / Undgå nderskud på regnskabet

Goal conflict (teachers)

To which degree do you experience a conflict between securing a high level of academic achievements and a high completion rate? I hvilken grad oplever du, at der er en konflikt imellem at tilgodese et højt fagligt niveau på skolen og en høj gennemførelsesprocent?

[1 X at a 10 point scale from 0 (not at all) to 10 (to a very high degree)]

Co-determination (teachers)**

Which degree of influence would you say that teachers have on the following decisions?

Hvilke grad af indflydelse vil vurdere, at lærerne har i forhold til følgende beslutninger?

- Ressourceallocation / Ressourcefordeling

- Devision of tasks / Opgavefordeling

- The overall goals of the school / Skolens overordnede målsætninger

To which degree do you experience that you have had influence on the prioritization of the school's goals?

I hvor høj grad oplever du, at du har haft indflydelse på prioriteringen af skolens mål?

* Danish versions of the items are displayed in italics.

**1 X at a 5 point Likert scale from "completely disagree" to "completely agree".

ENGLISH SUMMARY

Public employees' work commitment is important because it potentially contributes to ensuring that employees choose to remain with the organization and strive towards the politically determined goals of the organization. Our knowledge on the relationship between public management and employees' commitment at work is, however, sparse. This dissertation focuses on two types of work-related commitment, organizational commitment and goal commitment, and investigates how internal managerial efforts to accentuate the organizational goals and values are related to employees' organizational commitment and goal commitment. Within the commitment literature it is argued that organizational commitment and goal commitment also play a crucial role for the performance of public organizations. Committed employees are in other words expected to be more willing to make an extra effort for the organization, which in turn is expected to increase individual task performance and goal determination as well as personnel retention. Numerous studies have documented a positive relationship between commitment and turnover, absenteeism and job satisfaction, but we still know little about the implications for organizational effectiveness. Does employees' commitment matter for the quality and quantity of the outcomes of public service delivery? With the purpose of addressing these gaps in the existing literature this dissertation studies the following questions: What is the relationship between public management and employees' organizational commitment and goal commitment, respectively, and what are the implications for organizational performance?

The aim of the dissertation is to contribute to our understanding of the relationship between public management, employees' work commitment and organizational performance. This is done through five studies, which are all based on data from higher secondary education in Denmark (HHX, HTX and STX high schools). Data comprise parallel surveys of principals and teachers, objective and external performance indicators on high school completion rates and student grades, and finally qualitative interviews with again both teachers and principals. In addition to this report, which discusses the main theoretical expectations and empirical contributions, the dissertation consists of these five papers. The papers are either published in or prepared for peer-review journals.

Based on the findings from the five studies of the dissertation correspondingly five main conclusions can be drawn. *First*, the analyses show that principals' organizational commitment is positively related to teachers' organizational commitment, but only in the cases where principals are also realistic transformational leaders – that is leaders who greatly emphasize the organization's goals and values, but who do not overrate their own leadership style relative to the teachers of the school. According to these analyses, organizationally committed principals who are not transformational leaders at best have no effect on their teachers' organizational commitment and in some cases actually a negative one.

Second, the analyses do not reveal any significant relationships between principals' and teachers' organizational commitment and the quality and quantity of high school performance outcomes. The analyses include measures of school added value to student grades and high schools' completion rates, but in both cases, the results are the same: neither principals' nor teachers' organizational commitment matter for the these types of performance outcomes. The results thus suggest that we cannot uncritically assume that organizational commitment has positive implications for not just outputs, as shown in previous studies, but also the quality or quantity of organizational performance outcomes.

Third, the analyses show that principals' prioritization of increasing the high schools' completion rate is positively associated with teachers' commitment to this goal, if the teachers do not experience a strong goal conflict. According to these results, teachers' perception of conflict between achieving a high completion rate and a high academic level is associated with reduced levels of goal commitment and has a negative effect on the relationship between principals' goal prioritization and teachers' goal commitment.

Fourth, the dissertation's analyses show that teachers' perception of codetermination has a positive effect on the relationship between principals' prioritization of increasing the high schools' completion rate and teachers' commitment to this goal. In other words, the results suggest that co-determination may pave the way for aligning teachers' goal commitment with principals' goal prioritization.

Finally, the analyses show that principals' goal prioritization is positively related to organizational performance: the higher the principals prioritize the goal of increasing the completion rate (relative to other critical goals such as student well-being and the academic level) the better the schools perform on this dimension. However, the analyses also show that teachers' commitment to the goal of increasing the school's completion rate does not alter the school's impact on how many students complete their education.

The conclusions of the dissertation naturally come with several limitations. In particular, the cross-sectional research design severely limits the possibilities for causal interpretations of the findings, and the exclusive focus on secondary education in Denmark means that generalizations to other areas of the public sector or beyond this geographical setting should be made with great caution. In the light of these caveats and limitations, the results suggest that public managers should be attentive and responsive to their employees' perceptions, both in terms of how they see the manager's leadership style and how they perceive their working environment; that is, their possibilities for co-determination in the workplace and the potential goal conflicts they face in carrying out their job tasks. In addition, the results indicate that public managers can enhance the organization's performance through goal prioritization, but also that ensuring work commitment among the employees may not alter the quality or quantity of organizational performance outcomes related to the beneficiaries of the services they produce.

DANSK RESUMÉ

Viden om, hvordan offentlige ledere kan fremme medarbejderes commitment til den organisation, hvor de arbejder, og til organisationens mål, er vigtig, fordi commitment kan bidrage til at sikre, at medarbejderne forbliver i organisationen og forfølger politisk fastsatte målsætninger for organisationen. Vi ved imidlertid meget lidt om sammenhængen mellem offentlig ledelse og medarbejderes commitment. Denne afhandling fokuserer på to typer af arbejdsrelateret commitment, organisatorisk commitment og målcommitment, og ser i forlængelse heraf på, hvilken betydning offentlige lederes arbejde med organisationens mål og værdier har for medarbejdernes organisatoriske commitment og målcommitment. I commitment litteraturen argumenteres der desuden for, at organisatorisk commitment og målcommitment spiller en væsentlig rolle for offentlige organisationernes performance. Medarbejdere, som er committede til organisationen eller dens mål, forventes med andre ord at yde en ekstra indsats på deres arbejde og på den baggrund i højere grad at bidrage til at sikre, at organisationen skaber resultater. Indtil nu har studier af commitment i offentlige organisationer dog primært haft fokus på betydningen af medarbejderes commitment for fx medarbejderudskiftning, sygefravær og jobtilfredshed. Der mangler således viden om, hvorvidt medarbejderes commitment også har betydning for kvaliteten og kvantiteten af de serviceydelser, som borgerne modtager og bidrager til at finansiere. Med det formål netop at afdække ovenstående huller i den eksisterende litteratur undersøger denne afhandling følgende spørgsmål: Hvordan er sammenhængen mellem offentlig ledelse og henholdsvis medarbejderes organisatoriske commitment og målcommitment, og hvad er implikationerne for organisatorisk performance?

Det er således målet med afhandlingen at bidrage til forståelsen af forholdet mellem offentlig ledelse, medarbejderes commitment og organisatorisk performance. Dette gøres på baggrund af fem studier, der alle anvender data fra danske ungdomsuddannelser (HHX, HTX og STX skoler). Data kommer fra spørgeskemaundersøgelser til rektorer og lærere, registerdata, der indeholder information om skolernes gennemførelsesprocenter, elevernes karakterer og sociodemografiske baggrund samt interview med rektorer og lærere. Foruden denne sammenfatning, som indeholder en diskussion af de centrale teoretiske forventninger og empiriske bidrag, består afhandlingen af fem videnskabelige artikler. Artiklerne er indsendt til eller under udgivelse i peer-reviewede tidskrifter og forefindes her i publikationen.

På baggrund af afhandlingens fem artikler kan der drages tilsvarende fem centrale konklusioner. *For det første* viser analyserne, at rektorers orga-

nisatoriske commitment kan have en positiv afsmittende effekt på lærernes organisatoriske commitment, men kun i de tilfælde hvor rektorerne kan siges at være realistiske transformationsledere, dvs. ledere der lægger betydelig vægt på at kommunikere skolens mål og værdier gennem deres ledelsesstil, men som ikke overvurderer deres egen ledelsesstil relativt set i forhold til skolens lærere. Analyserne viser, at når rektorer ikke udøver transformationsledelse, så har deres organisatoriske commitment i bedste fald ingen effekt på lærernes organisatoriske commitment og i værste fald en negativ effekt.

For det andet viser resultaterne, at der ikke er en signifikant sammenhæng mellem organisatorisk commitment og organisatoriske performance outcomes. Analyserne i denne sammenhæng ser på både skolernes løfteevne i forhold til elevernes karakterer og skolernes gennemførelsesprocenter, og hverken rektorer eller læreres organisatoriske commitment gør en forskel for skolernes evne til at løfte elevernes faglige præstationer eller deres evne til at fastholde eleverne på uddannelsen. Litteraturen har hidtil dokumenteret stærke sammenhænge mellem organisatorisk commitment og performance outputs, men resultaterne her indikerer, at der ikke nødvendigvis kan forventes det samme, når det handler om kvaliteten eller kvantiteten af organisatoriske outcomes.

For det tredje viser afhandlingens analyser, at rektorers prioritering af målet om en høj gennemførelsesprocent har en positiv sammenhæng med lærernes commitment til målet, såfremt lærerne ikke oplever en høj grad af målkonflikt. Resultaterne viser nemlig, at læreres opfattelse af konflikt imellem målene om at tilgodese et højt fagligt niveau og en høj gennemførelsesprocent har en negativ sammenhæng med deres målcommitment og ligeledes en negativ indvirkning på sammenhængen mellem rektorers målprioritering og læreres målcommitment.

For det fjerde viser afhandlingens analyser, at lærernes oplevelse af medindflydelse har en positiv effekt på sammenhængen mellem rektorers prioritering af målet om en høj gennemførelsesprocent og lærernes commitment til målet. Med andre ord indikerer resultaterne altså, at medindflydelse kan være med til at bane vejen for, at lærerne committer sig til det mål, som skolens rektor har valgt at prioritere.

Endelig viser afhandlingens analyser, at rektorers målprioritering har en positiv sammenhæng med organisatorisk performance: Jo højere rektor prioriterer målet om en høj gennemførelsesprocent relativt set i forhold til andre relevante mål, som eksempelvis elevtrivsel og et højt fagligt niveau, desto bedre er skolen til at løfte gennemførelsesprocenten. Lærernes commitment til målet om en høj gennemførelsesprocent kan dog på baggrund af analyserne ikke siges at have en betydning for, hvordan skolerne klarer sig på denne performance dimension.

Afhandlingens konklusioner skal naturligvis ses i lyset af en række begrænsninger. Særligt afhandlingens tværsnitsdesign indebærer, at der er meget begrænsede muligheder for kausale fortolkninger af afhandlingens resultater, ligesom at det eksklusive fokus på danske ungdomsuddannelser reducerer generaliserbarheden af resultaterne til fx andre dele af den offentlige sektor eller på tværs af landegrænser. Overordnet set indikerer resultaterne i afhandlingen dog, at offentlige ledere bør være opmærksomme på, at det at sikre commitment blandt organisationens medarbejdere kræver, at de er lydhøre overfor, hvordan medarbejderne oplever lederens ledelsesstil samt deres arbejdsvilkår; herunder både medarbejdernes oplevede muligheder for medindflydelse og de potentielle målkonflikter, som kunne præge udførelsen af deres arbejdsopgaver. Herudover understreger resultaterne, at offentlige ledere kan øge organisationens performance gennem deres målprioritering, men omvendt også, at de som udgangspunkt ikke skal forvente, at det at have committede medarbejdere nødvendigvis afspejler sig i kvaliteten eller kvantiteten af organisationens performance outcomes.